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Modern Water owns a portfolio of water
technologies to address the limited availability
of fresh water and the treatment and disposal
of wastewater worldwide. By 2025, it is forecast
that two-thirds of the world’s population will live
in countries classified as water-stressed. Climate
change is likely to further exacerbate this situation.
Managed by an executive team with extensive
experience in the water industry, Modern Water
is at the leading edge of new and developing
technologies, which are vital to the future sustainability
of the world’s most precious commodity.
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Business at a Glance

Modern Water owns, installs and
operates world-leading membrane
technologies and develops and supplies
advanced systems for water monitoring.
Membrane Processes Division

Modern Water owns, installs and operates world leading
membrane technologies and is a world-leader in Forward
Osmosis (FO) technology. The Group has successfully
implemented and operated our patented desalination process
internationally and produces potable water in some of the most
demanding seawater conditions in the world.

Monitoring Division

The Monitoring division provides toxicity, trace metal and
environmental monitoring systems. The range includes
equipment for portable, online, and laboratory use. All systems
are easy to use and operate by technicians in any location
around the world.
The benefits of Modern Water’s technologies include quick and
reliable results, early warning of toxic events, low capital and
operating costs, protection against environmental pollution,
robust and proven equipment for stand-alone use or integrated
into existing processes.

Applications

Product Portfolio

Desalination

Toxicity

Evaporative Cooling Systems

Trace Metals

Hydro Osmotic Power (HOP)

Environmental

Secondary Oil Recovery

Energy savings
up to

40%

Extensive international
distribution network.
Sales in almost

60

countries
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Chairman’s Statement

Neil McDougall
Executive Chairman
“I am delighted to report that 2012 was another
successful year for Modern Water, both for our
Membrane Processes and Monitoring divisions.
Key highlights of the year include the successful
completion of the world’s first commercial FO plant
at Al Najdah in Oman, signing agreements with
companies in China and Kuwait and increasing sales
of our monitoring products. We enjoyed strong
growth with total revenue increasing to £3.8 million
in 2012 from £1.2 million in 2011.”
After the year-end, the Group’s cash
position was strengthened following a
share placing which raised £10 million
before expenses in March 2013. The strong
support, demonstrated by both existing and
new shareholders shows confidence in our
business strategy. The funds raised will enable
the Group to invest in its growth strategy in
key markets, particularly China and the Middle
East. It also allows Modern Water to invest in
the next level of improvements in membrane
efficiency and grow the Monitoring division
through acquisitions.
Membrane Processes Division
In September 2012 the Group announced
the installation and commissioning of the
world’s first commercial FO plant at Al Najdah
in Oman; a significant milestone in the
commercial roll-out of our FO technology.
The revenue from the construction phase
of this project was recognised during 2012
and the initial 12 month Operation and
Maintenance phase is progressing well having
commenced in September 2012.

During the second half of the year the Group
entered into a framework agreement with
Hangzhou Development Center of Water
Treatment Technology, Company Limited
(Hangzhou Water) in the People’s Republic of
China. This partnership allows both companies
to jointly identify and develop seawater
desalination plants and other water related
opportunities in China. The Group also signed
an agreement with Kazema Global Holding
KSCH in Kuwait which will see us working
together to promote our FO technology for
make-up water in evaporative cooling systems,
strengthening Modern Water’s position as a
provider of water solutions in the Middle East.
I am pleased to report that in addition to the

signing of these two agreements we are now in
discussions about several potential projects in
the Middle East and China and it is anticipated
that the first project will be announced in the
summer of 2013.
Monitoring Division
We enjoyed further growth in our Monitoring
division in 2012. Product sales continued to
increase with revenue for the full year reaching
£3.4 million (2011: £1.2m).
The Monitoring division has also extended
its product portfolio through key licensing
agreements signed during 2012, and has
reorganised its distribution network for
greater efficiency.
Overview
Modern Water has made considerable
progress in 2012. Both our Membrane
Processes and Monitoring divisions have
developed substantially and we enter 2013
well placed to continue to grow. The Group
remains financially strong and debt free, with
cash of £5.7 million as of 31 December 2012.
A further £9.5 million net proceeds were
raised from the share placing in March 2013.
On behalf of the Board I would like to thank
all of my colleagues at Modern Water for their
on-going support and commitment as we
look ahead to further success.
Neil McDougall
Executive Chairman
13 March 2013

Framework agreement
signed with Hangzhou Water
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Our Commitment to the Environment

“Sustainability and environmental responsibility
are at the heart of our business.”
At Modern Water we have built our business
around our commitment to the environment.
As a multinational company, we help to solve
environmental and social problems across
the world.
Our technologies and products are used
to help other companies to improve their
environmental practices and help to provide
clean drinking water around the world.
Our products range from those detecting
toxicity in water and trace metals in soil
to identifying contaminants such as explosives,
pesticides, toxins and hydrocarbons. On the
Membrane Processes side our FO technology
lowers carbon emissions and chemical usage in
water production. As the Group grows, we are
increasingly making contributions to improve
the environment in the 58 countries where
we operate.
Our monitoring products have been used on
high-profile projects globally such as detecting
toxicity levels in the BP Deepwater Horizon
oil spill clean-up project, detecting toxicity
in a number of Chinese rivers and analysing
trace metals in discharge from wastewater
treatment plants at numerous mines, smelters
and power plants around the world.

A Precious Resource

The world uses:
• 70% freshwater for irrigation
• 22% freshwater for industry
•	8 % freshwater for domestic use
By 2025 water abstraction is predicted
to increase by:
• 50% in developing countries
• 18% in developed countries
Source: IFAD

Modern Water’s FO process, is significantly
more environmentally friendly than the
traditional desalination technique of reverse
osmosis. It has been proven that FO reduces
energy requirements by up to 40%, requires
fewer chemicals in the treatment process and
also produces better quality potable water.

33%

Water scarcity is one of the main problems
facing the world. A third of people globally
lack enough water to meet daily needs.
As a finite resource, this problem has been
caused by water use growing at more than
twice the rate of population increase over
the past century.
There are an increasing number of regions
which are chronically short of water.
Countries with rapidly growing populations
have been most affected, with the Middle
East and China being among the world’s
most water stressed regions.

One in every three people
around the world today
face daily problems
of water supply
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CEO’s Business Review

Simon Humphrey
Chief Executive Officer
Our vision is simple; to continue to scale-up the level
and reach of market activities in both our Membrane
Processes and Monitoring divisions.
Our Membrane Processes division provides
high value technology services and support
to partner organisations in the desalination
industry. To achieve our growth strategy
we will work with existing partners in our
key markets to secure further municipal and
industrial desalination projects. Additionally,
we will continue to broaden the application
of our technology by seeking further
partnerships in other industries.

We will accelerate growth in the Monitoring
division through strategic partnerships and
targeted acquisitions and grow by licensing
and acquiring innovative, proven products
to leverage through our global distribution
network.

 During 2013 Modern Water
will seek to:

 

• Scale up the level and reach of market
activities in both its membrane and
monitoring divisions
• Develop projects with Hangzhou Water
• Enter the industrial water market in
China with a prospective partner

• Build on existing relationships in the
Middle East to secure further projects
• Progress further with projects
identified with its partner Kazema
in Kuwait and other countries
in the region
• Further accelerate growth in the
Monitoring division

US
Modern Water opens new
offices in the US in April 2012.
Recent acquisition successfully
integrated.

Business Review
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2006 – 2007

Technical Development

• 2006 Founded to exploit
a portfolio of water
technologies.
• 2007 AIM IPO.

2008 – 2010

2011 – Onwards

• 2008 Gibraltar proving plant
produces first water.

• 2 011 Modern Water awarded
world’s first commercial FO
plant in Al Najdah, Oman.

Proving Phase

• 2009 Al Khaluf pilot plant
produces water.
• 2 010 Evaporative cooling system
plant commissioned.
• 2 008 – 2010 Key patents granted.

Commercial Rollout

• 2 012 Al Najdah plant
commissioned.
• 2 012 Partnership agreements
in Kuwait & China.

UK

China

State-of-the-art laboratories,
customer services and office
facilities opened in Cambridge
in November 2012.

One of Modern Water’s key
markets. Co-operation agreement
with Hangzhou Water signed
in December 2012.

Oman
Modern Water commissioned
the world’s first commercial
FO desalination plant at
Al Najdah in September 2012.

Kuwait
Co-operation and agency
agreement signed in November
2012 with Kazema Group
in Kuwait.

Indonesia
The Monitoring division held
first distributors’ conference
on Batam Island in July 2012.
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Membrane
Processes
World-leading FO
desalination technology

The world sees the first commercial
FO desalination plant installed at Al Najdah
in Oman.
Modern Water completed the
commissioning of its 200 cubic metres
per day FO desalination plant at Al Najdah
in September 2012. The contract to design,
build, install and commission the plant was
awarded in June 2011 by Oman’s Public
Authority for Electricity and Water (PAEW).
Upon completion Modern Water entered
into a 12 month operation and maintenance
(O&M) phase.

“Provider of high value
technology services
and support to partner
organisations in the
desalination industry”
The plant started operating at full capacity
in July 2012 and supplies the local community
with a much needed source of potable water.
Modern Water has also recruited a number
of people from the local area who have been
trained and are now working as part of the
operations team.

Business Review
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Applications
Membrane Desalination
Evaporative Cooling Systems
Hydro Osmotic Power (HOP)
Secondary Oil Recovery

Commercial Roll-out
The commercial roll-out of our technology
began in 2011 with the award of the world’s
first commercial FO desalination plant at
Al Najdah in Oman. During 2012 we signed
agreements with companies in China and
Kuwait which will bring opportunities for
new commercial contracts and see Modern
Water provide technical support to the
main contractor.
Our Markets
Our world-leading FO technology can
potentially play an important part in helping
to ease water scarcity globally. It has
demonstrated that high quality potable water
can be produced in the most demanding
conditions and continues to show a number
of benefits over other forms of desalination
which has attracted a high level of interest
around the world. In September our Al
Khaluf FO desalination plant was featured
on BBC World as an example of how such
technology can really make a difference in
water-stressed locations. The programme
featured local villagers who had received
water for the first time and who talked
about how the plant had changed their lives.
The programme can be seen by going to the
BBC website – http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/
business-19769041
We have identified the Middle East and China
as key markets for our technology.
The Middle East contains some of the world’s
most water-stressed countries including
Bahrain, Qatar, Kuwait and Saudi Arabia.
The Gulf countries have few alternatives
to desalination when it comes to developing
their water resources and they house around
70% of the world’s desalination plants.

For more information on our
Membrane Process division visit
our updated website:
http://www.modernwater.com/
membrane-processes

The world’s first commercial FO plant,
located at Al Najdah in Oman.

Over the next ten years it is anticipated
that the Middle Eastern economy will lead
to significant growth combined with rising
temperatures and an expanding population.
This will see additional demand for water.
China is another important market for
Modern Water as there is a clear water
scarcity challenge in the country. In 2011
China had 20% of the world’s population
but only 7% of its water resources and
currently 400 out of 668 Chinese cities are
facing water shortages. It is predicted that
in the next five years China is set to become
the second largest desalination market
in the world after Saudi Arabia.
Modern Water’s commercial roll-out and
expansion within China coincides with the
Chinese Government announcing in 2012
that its latest five year plan includes investing
US$536bn in environmental protection.

Resources
Following increased business activity we have
recruited a number of senior management staff
during 2012. These appointments strengthen
our existing Membrane Processes division and
continue to add industry knowledge to our
highly experienced team.
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Monitoring
Division
More than 2,900
Microtox® instruments
sold worldwide

Modern Water’s monitoring products
used at London Olympic Games.
Our Microtox® M500 was used during
the 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games in
London to monitor water quality. Microtox®
is a market leading analyser which detects
toxins in water and has been used at every
summer Olympics and Paralympics since 1984.
Thames Water, the provider of all the
drinking water for this year’s Games
used the Microtox® M500 to ensure the
provision of safe, clean drinking water
at the Olympic Park.

“The Microtox® M500 is a
market leading product used
for a number of high profile
events and situations including
the London Olympic Games
and the BP Deepwater
Horizon oil spill cleanup”
Thames Water took a daily sample from
each of the major Olympic venues and used
the Microtox® M500 extensively at its main
laboratory in Reading to analyse the water
quality. The product tests for toxicity and
detects any toxic substance.

Business Review
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Products
Toxicity
Trace Metals
Environment

The division will grow by
licensing as well as acquiring
innovative, proven products
to leverage through our
international distribution
network.

For more information on
our Monitoring division visit
our updated website:
http://www.modernwater.com/
monitoring

An expanding product portfolio.

The Monitoring division has made significant
progress in 2012. The SDIX Water Quality
division acquisition was successfully integrated
into Modern Water and has resulted in the
development of three key areas for our
Monitoring division’s product portfolio;
Toxicity, Trace Metals and Environment.
Our toxicity products use bioluminescent
bacteria that detect the presence of toxic
substances in water, soil, food and industrial
processes. These products have a number
of uses including portable and online as
well as laboratory, and include the market
leading brand, Microtox®. The trace metal
range of products also includes both online
and portable instruments to monitor and
control metals discharged from industrial
processes or in naturally occurring aquifers.
The environmental monitoring systems
selectively identify and quantify contaminants
including various explosives, pesticides and
hydrocarbons.
During 2012 the division opened two new
premises in Delaware, US and in Cambridge,
UK. Both facilities contain state-of-the-art
laboratories as well as customer support
services, product demonstration areas and
office space. The UK premises now house
our centralised laboratory for sample testing
across Europe and Asia while our US office
provides these facilities for the Americas.

Expanding Product Portfolio
In line with our strategy we have expanded
our product portfolio with the addition of
new licensed products for our Environmental
range from Multisensor Systems Limited and
Chelsea Technologies Group Ltd. An updated
portable trace metal monitor was also
launched at the 2012 Water and Wastewater
Environmental Monitoring (WWEM)
exhibition in Telford, UK.
Distribution Network
In response to the continued growth of the
division during 2012, we restructured our
sales focus into three geographical regions,
the Americas, EMEA and Asia. This allows
us to provide stronger support to our growing
distribution network. By the end of the year
we had recorded sales in almost 60 countries
across the world.
In June, the division held its first sales
conference for its Asia Pacific distributors
in Indonesia. The conference attracted more
than 40 distributors from the region. It was
a huge success and demonstrated Modern
Water’s new and existing product ranges.

Operational Review
With increased sales of trace metal products
and a full year of sales from toxicity and
environmental products, the Monitoring
division increased sales almost threefold in
2012, achieving sales of £3.4m (2011: £1.2m).
Recurring revenues of service contracts and
reagent sales account for £1.1m per year.
We enter 2013 with a strong pipeline of
orders and the capacity to further accelerate
growth through strategic partnerships and
targeted acquisitions.
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CEO’s Business Review
(Continued)

Protecting our proprietary technology
around the world is a fundamental part
of our strategy.
Group Performance
Intellectual Property
During 2012 we increased our patent portfolio
with an additional 19 patents granted in 17
jurisdictions.
The Group now holds 99 granted patents and
has 69 pending applications. The Membrane
Processes division holds 71 granted patents
across the six main patent groups of solvent
removal, osmotic energy, cooling apparatus,
enhanced oil recovery, solar pond and thermal
desalination. The Monitoring division currently
holds 24 granted patents and the remaining
four patents have been granted for other
technologies.
Resources
The Group currently employs 57 permanent
staff and also deploys contract staff as
required. Both the Membrane Processes and
Monitoring divisions have increased in size
during the reporting period.
Where possible, the Group utilises local
expertise by employing people from the
communities in which we operate. During
2012 this included six local Omani operators
at our Al Najdah and Al Khaluf plants
in Oman.
Risks and Uncertainties
The risks inherent in the operation of the
Group are well understood by the Board of
Directors and the management team. Principal
risks and uncertainties are described in detail
in the Directors’ Report. Control measures
have been established to ensure that these
and other risks are adequately controlled
both in terms of frequency and consequences.
The internal control environment is described
in the Corporate Governance Statement.

Financial Review
Summary
The financial position of the Group is strong
with £5.7m cash in the bank and no debt
at 31 December 2012 (2011: £11.3m cash).
A further £9.5m net proceeds were raised
from the placing of 20 million new shares in
March 2013. The Group generated revenue
of £3.8m in 2012 (2011: £1.2m). The Group’s
loss for the year was £5.4m (2011: £4.5m), as
operating expenses exceeded gross profit.
The loss increased on prior year primarily
due to the amortisation of intangible assets
acquired from SDIX’s Water Quality Division
and the financial impact of the construction
phase of the Al Najdah contract.
Accounting Policies
The Group financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with EU Endorsed
IFRS, IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
interpretations and the Companies Act 2006
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.
The key accounting policies to note are those
concerned with intangible assets and share
based payments.
Capital Structure
The Group is entirely equity funded which
is appropriate during the current stage
of development. As the Group develops,
the capital structure will be reassessed
on a project by project basis.

Treasury Management
The Group has adopted a low risk approach
to treasury management. Cash balances
are invested in fixed interest term deposit
accounts, with maturity dates to suit projected
liquidity requirements. Credit risk is addressed
by the Group’s treasury policy. Deposits are
selected based on achieving the optimum
balance of yield, security and liquidity. Foreign
exchange risk is primarily mitigated through
natural hedging of receipts and payments
See note 3 to the Accounts for further detail
of financial risk management.
Cash Flows
The Group cash outflow for the year was
£5.5m (2011: £8.0m). Cash inflow from
interest on term deposits was £0.2m
(2011: £0.4m). Cash outflows comprised
£0.6m property, plant and equipment
(2011: £0.1m), £0.2m patents (2011: £0.1m),
£nil net cash invested in subsidiaries and joint
ventures (2011: £3.1m) and £4.9m operating
costs and financing activities (2011: £5.0m).
Simon Humphrey
Chief Executive Officer
13 March 2013
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Our People

We Value our People.
Our employees are one
of our biggest assets.
We believe that building a
strong team is fundamental
to successfully implementing
our growth strategy
and continuing to improve
the Group’s long-term
performance.
Our Goal
It is vital to continue to grow our
knowledgeable, highly experienced team in
line with the increased interest in our products
and technologies. In 2012 we made a number
of significant senior appointments, especially
within our Engineering and Sales departments.
Work Environment
We aim to provide a good working environment
which motivates our people to deliver innovative
solutions. This year we opened two new
premises, in Cambridge, UK and Delaware, US
which include state of the art laboratory and
product demonstration facilities.
Modern Water strives to create a community,
not just a workplace. We support the
ongoing development of our employees
and have an excellent track record in staff
retention. We make an effort to encourage
collaboration and networking across the
Group and provide continuous support and
feedback. We communicate regularly with our
people and understand development needs.
With the team expanding across the world,
2012 saw the introduction of a regular staff
newsletter to complement our suite of internal
communications activities.

No of staff employed
by Modern water
(Full time employees as at
31 December 2012)

2012
2011
2010			

57
48
29
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The Board
of Directors

Biography

Neil McDougall
Executive Chairman

Simon Humphrey
Chief Executive Officer

Michael Gradon
Senior Independent
Non‑executive Director

Neil McDougall, who qualified as a chartered
accountant, is a co-founder of the Group.
As Executive Chairman, his main focus is to
deliver value to the Company’s shareholders
by shaping Modern Water’s growth strategy.
He is also responsible for maintaining
Modern Water’s relationship with the City.
Neil is Chairman of Delagua and Delagua
Health. Formerly Neil was Chairman of Mid
Kent Water Group plc and Chairman and
CEO of Cascal NV and a director of Biwater
plc. Neil has worked extensively with private
equity investors, infrastructure funds and
other financial institutions.

Simon Humphrey is a co-founder of
the Group and has been CEO since
Modern Water’s inception in December
2006. Simon oversees the day-to-day
running of the Group, ensuring the Company
and its investments progress successfully.
He brings a host of water industry and
capital investment experience to the role,
and oversees the smooth operation of
Modern Water’s sites internationally.

Michael has over 25 years’ experience
in senior commercial, management and legal
positions. He spent 20 years at P&O and
was a main board director for eight years
until its takeover in 2006 by Dubai Ports
World. His roles included group commercial
and legal director, Chairman of P&O’s
property business and Chief Executive
Officer of its largest infrastructure project.
He is a Non-executive Director of Exclusive
Hotels, of Grosvenor Limited and of
Aercap Holdings NV and a member of the
committee of the All England Lawn Tennis
Club and the Wimbledon Championships.

Roger Webster
Managing Director,
Membrane Processes Division

Neil Townend
General Manager,
Monitoring Division

Peter Nicoll
Technical Director

Roger Webster is responsible for the
Membrane Processes business. He leads
the Business Development team and
is responsible for the deployment, licensing
and selling of the Group’s technology.
In his previous role with Biwater Plc
and Cascal NV, Roger gained extensive
international experience in Asia, the
Middle East, the Americas and most recently
Africa where he was Managing Director
of the South African businesses. He has
a wide range of management and business
development experience within the water
utilities sector.

Neil leads the Monitoring division and is
responsible for increasing sales and market
penetration for Modern Water’s leading
water monitoring technologies. He has
over 20 years technical and commercial
experience in the environmental and water
sectors. Neil has previously held technical
positions in environmental consultancy with
RPS Consulting and SGS Group and senior
commercial roles in sales and marketing in
Chemviron Carbon; the European operation
of Calgon Carbon Corporation.

Peter Nicoll leads the multi-disciplined
technical team at Modern Water,
where he has been instrumental in the
development, design and successful
deployment of Modern Water’s FO based
technologies. He is the inventor of a number
of FO and related processes. A graduate of
the University of Glasgow, he is a Chartered
Engineer and a Fellow of the Institution
of Mechanical Engineers. His previous
experience includes Director of Business
Development for Fichtner Consulting
Engineers Ltd where he was responsible
for heading up the business development
and sales functions. He has extensive broad
expertise in all the major desalination
processes, having held a number of senior
roles, both technically and commercially,
at Weir Westgarth.

The Management Team

Biography
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Mike Townend
Non-executive Director

Robert Clarke
Non-executive Director

Tad Ostrowski
General Counsel
and Company Secretary

Mike is the Chief Investment Officer at
IP Group plc. He joined the IP Group’s
board as head of Capital Markets in 2007
from Lehman Brothers where he was
Managing Director of European Equities
and Head of Equity Sales to Hedge Funds.
He has 20 years’ experience in equity
capital markets and investment process
and was also a key member of the senior
relationship management programme
at Lehman Brothers. Prior to this, he was
an Executive Director at Donaldson,
Lufkin and Jenrette with responsibility
primarily for building the bank’s business
with hedge funds and alternatives. Mike has
sourced, co-led or led numerous private
and public transactions. He is the IP Group
representative on the boards of Modern
Water plc, Evocutis plc and Revolymer plc.
He is also a Non-executive Director of
Green Urban Transport Ltd.

Robert, who qualified as a chartered
accountant, has worked in the private
equity industry for more than 20 years, first
at Electra Partners and subsequently as a
founding partner of Motion Equity Partners.
Since leaving Motion Equity Partners in 2008
he has focussed on using his experience
to assist a variety of businesses in their
development.

Tad is responsible for Group secretarial and
legal matters; he also manages the intellectual
property portfolio. Tad has extensive
international legal experience gained
in-house and in private practice. He spent
10 years at Travelport, where he was
General Counsel of its Global Distribution
Services division for four years, leading
a global legal team and serving as a member
of the executive team. He previously held
a number of senior legal roles within Galileo
and Cendant, and served as an officer
and a director of a number of Travelport
companies. Before moving in-house in
2001, Tad was an associate in the corporate
finance department at Richards Butler
(now Reed Smith LLP) in London.

Peter Bristow
Group Financial Controller

Alan McQuillin
Senior Vice President,
Operations & Technology

Peter Bristow leads the finance team for
Modern Water. He has a wide range of
experience across a number of finance
disciplines, including M&A, group and
divisional finance, internal and external
audit roles. He has previously held senior
finance roles in organisations undergoing
high levels of growth and change, including
Virgin Media, Telewest Communications
and Thames Water. Peter qualified as
a Chartered Accountant over 15 years ago
with Coopers and Lybrand.

Alan McQuillin joined Modern Water
in 2011 as part of the acquisition of the
Strategic Diagnostics Inc. (SDIX) Water
Quality division. Alan has more than
22 years of experience in Life Sciences
with SDIX, where he most recently worked
as Senior Director of Quality, leading SDIX
to ISO 9001:2008 certification. Other
expertise includes operations management,
new product development, and product
management. In the new product
development group he developed test
kits for environmental contaminants such
as PCBs, TNT, and PCP, lateral flow assays
and ELISAs for the detection of GM crops,
and research with the Microtox® platform.

For more information,
please visit our website:
http://www.modernwater.com/
about-us/board
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Corporate Governance Statement
Corporate governance
The Board of Modern Water plc is committed to integrity, business ethics and achieving good standards of corporate governance. As an
AIM-listed company, Modern Water plc is not required to issue a statement of compliance with the principles and provisions of The UK
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”). However, this Corporate Governance Statement, together with the information contained
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 16 to 18, explains how the directors seek to apply the requirements of the Code to the Group,
where practical given its size, resources and stage of development.
Board of directors
The Board comprises two executive directors, the Executive Chairman (Neil McDougall) and the Chief Executive Officer (Simon Humphrey),
and three non-executive directors (Michael Gradon, Mike Townend and Robert Clarke). Michael Gradon is the senior independent non-executive
director, Robert Clarke is an independent non-executive director and Mike Townend is a representative of IP Group plc.
The business and management of the Group and its subsidiaries are the collective responsibility of the Board. At each meeting the Board
considers and reviews the performance of each of the major projects. The Board has a formal written schedule of matters reserved for its review
and approval. These include the approval of the annual budget, major capital expenditure, investment proposals, the interim and annual results,
and a review of the overall system of internal control and risk management.
Authority for the execution of the approved policies, business plan and daily running of the business is delegated to the executive directors.
In addition, there is a Management Team whose purpose is to assist the Chief Executive Officer in the performance of his duties.
Modern Water plc’s Articles of Association require one third of the directors to stand for re-election each year at the Annual General Meeting.
Accordingly, Michael Gradon and Mike Townend will retire and offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
All directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures and
applicable rules and regulations are observed. The Board has a procedure whereby any director may seek, through the office of the Company
Secretary, independent professional advice, at the Group’s expense, in furtherance of his duties.
Formal agendas and reports are provided to the Board on a timely basis for Board and committee meetings and the Executive Chairman ensures
that all directors are properly briefed on issues to be discussed at Board meetings. Directors are able to obtain further advice or seek clarity
on issues raised at the meetings from within the Group or from external sources.
Business ethics
We are committed to acting fairly and ethically in all countries in which we operate. We expect the same standards from all third parties
who provide services for Modern Water plc and its subsidiary companies. We maintain anti-bribery, and gifts and entertainment policies,
and procedures for contractual commitments to better manage risk with third parties. During the year all staff have received communications
on the Group’s anti-bribery policy and certain staff received further detailed training on anti-bribery.
Committees
The Board has a Remuneration Committee and an Audit Committee. The executive directors are not members of the committees, but attend
the meetings by invitation to facilitate business, if appropriate. The Company Secretary acts as secretary to the committees. The Board does
not have a Nomination Committee and Board appointments are consequently a matter for the Board as a whole. The Board is satisfied that
the committees discharged their responsibilities appropriately.
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee consists of Michael Gradon (Chairman, Remuneration Committee), Robert Clarke and Mike Townend.
Further details of the committee and its policies are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 16 to 18.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee consists of Robert Clarke (Chairman, Audit Committee), Michael Gradon and Mike Townend.
The committee reviews and makes recommendations on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditors, the review
of the scope and results of the external annual audit by the auditors, their cost effectiveness, independence and objectivity. The committee also
reviews the nature and extent of any non-audit services provided by the external auditors. No independence issues were noted during the year.
The Group Financial Controller monitors the level and nature of non-audit services and specific assignments are identified for approval by the
Audit Committee as appropriate.
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In addition, the Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of internal controls, considers the need for an internal audit function and considers any
major accounting issues and reports on such matters to the Board. The Audit Committee reviews the integrity of the financial statements and formal
announcements.
A whistle-blowing arrangement exists whereby matters can be confidentially reported to the committee.
Attendance
The following table shows attendance of the directors at meetings of the Board, Remuneration and Audit Committees during the year:

Neil McDougall
Simon Humphrey
Michael Gradon
Mike Townend
Robert Clarke

Board

Remuneration

Audit

Attended

Eligible to
attend

Attended

Eligible to
attend

Attended

Eligible to
attend

7
7
6
7
7

7
7
7
7
7

—
—
2
3
3

—
—
3
3
3

—
—
3
3
3

—
—
3
3
3

Internal control
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. The implementation and
maintenance of the risk management and internal control systems are the responsibility of the executive directors and senior management.
The internal control system is designed to mitigate the principal risks, amongst others, detailed in the Directors’ Report, but it does not provide
absolute assurance that these risks are eliminated or against material misstatement or loss. The Board is satisfied with the controls in place for
identification and management of risk and that the reporting lines have been in place throughout the year under review. The key internal controls
in place during the year and up to the date of approval of the report included:
•	reporting to the Board, including key financial information and commentary (Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, Group Statement
of Financial Position, Group Statement of Cash Flows) and the Chief Executive Officer’s report on the business, significant changes and the external
marketplace, including the extent to which they represent significant risk;
•	detailed corporate policies and procedures document to address key operating and compliance risk areas, including procurement, treasury,
human resources, health and safety;
•	clear organisational structure with defined reporting lines and delegated authorities;
•	the Audit Committee;
•	centralised accounts team providing financial control and support to all Group companies; and
•	an annual strategy review and an annual budget approved by the Board.
The Board has considered the need for an internal audit function, but because of the size and nature of its operations does not consider it necessary
at the current time.
Relations with shareholders and investors
The Board is regularly updated regarding meetings and communications with shareholders. An analysis of the shareholder base is presented to the
Board on a quarterly basis. Research notes and broker analysis are circulated to and discussed with the Board. During the year, the Executive
Chairman met with institutional investors at meetings arranged by the Group’s brokers and financial PR advisers.
The Board appointed Numis Securities Limited as its nominated advisor and broker (NOMAD) during the fourth quarter of the year.
Copies of the Annual Report and Accounts are issued to all shareholders. Copies of the Annual Report and Accounts and the Interim Statement
are available on the website: www.modernwater.com. The Group makes full use of its website to provide information to shareholders and other
interested parties. The website provides a facility to receive email alert notifications of Group news and announcements to the London Stock
Exchange. Shareholders are given the opportunity to raise questions at the Annual General Meeting and the directors are available both prior
to and after the meeting for further discussion with shareholders. Michael Gradon, as Senior Independent Non-executive Director, is available
to shareholders where contact through the normal channels of Executive Chairman, Chief Executive Officer or Company Secretary are inappropriate
or have failed to resolve concerns.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
Introduction
This report has been approved by the Board and the Remuneration Committee (the ‘Committee’). It has been prepared to comply with
the disclosure requirements of Schedule 5 to the Large and Medium Sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008
(SI 2008/410). The report also provides the information required to be reported on Directors’ remuneration under AIM Rule 19. The Committee
is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and has taken steps to comply with the principles of best practice,
including the ABI Principles of Remuneration and The UK Corporate Governance Code in so far as they can be applied practically given the
size of the Group.
Role of the Remuneration Committee
The Committee determines, in accordance with its terms of reference, the remuneration and other benefits, including bonuses and share-based
payments, of the executive directors.
The Committee consulted with the executive directors about its remuneration proposals for the year.
Remuneration policy
The Committee is aware that the remuneration package should be sufficiently competitive to attract, retain and motivate individuals capable
of achieving the Group’s objectives and thereby enhancing shareholder value. Performance-based remuneration should be clearly aligned with
business strategy and objectives and be regularly reviewed. Overall arrangements should be prudent, well communicated, incentivise effectively
and recognise shareholders’ expectations.
Service contracts
The Group’s policy is for executive directors to have service contracts with provision for termination of no more than 12 months’ notice.
Michael Gradon and Robert Clarke have letters of appointment. Appointments can be terminated by the Group or the individual giving one
month’s notice. The services of Mike Townend are covered in a services agreement with IP Group plc, a significant shareholder in the Company.
The details of the executive and non-executive directors’ service contracts are summarised below:
Date of contract

Notice period
(months)

Neil McDougall

18 May 2007

12

Simon Humphrey

18 May 2007

12

14 March 2007

1

Executive directors

Non-executive directors
Michael Gradon
Mike Townend

18 May 2007

1

Robert Clarke

17 June 2010

1

Biographical details of all directors can be found on page 12 and 13.
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Directors’ remuneration
Remuneration for the executive directors comprises basic salary, annual bonus, pension, share-based payments and insurance cover for medical,
life and income protection. The bonus payable is determined by performance against objectives, approved by the Committee, which are set at the
beginning of each year.
The Board, within the limits stipulated by the Articles of Association and with recommendation from the executive directors, determines
non‑executive directors’ fees. The remuneration of the non-executive directors is not pensionable and the non-executive directors do not
participate in any of the Group’s other remuneration schemes.
Remuneration for the directors during the year was as follows:
Year ended
31 December
2012
Total
Benefits (ex pension)
£000
£000

Year ended
Year ended
31 December 31 December
2012
2011
Total
Total
Pension (inc pension) (ex pension)
£000
£000
£000

Year ended
31 December
2011
Total
Pension (inc pension)
£000
£000

Basic salary,
allowances
and fees
£000

*Bonus
£000

Neil McDougall

250

20

8

278

25

303

257

25

282

Simon Humphrey

138

20

5

163

14

177

129

13

142

Michael Gradon

35

—

—

35

—

35

35

—

35

Robert Clarke

20

—

—

20

—

20

20

—

20

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

443

40

13

496

39

535

441

38

479

Executive directors

Non-executive directors

Mike Townend**

* Bonuses are disclosed in the year for which the performance relates. Bonuses for 2012 annual performance are disclosed in the 2012 remuneration.
** The services of Mike Townend are covered through an agreement with IP Group plc, see note 26 to the Accounts.

Modern Water plc Incentive Plan (‘MWIP’)
The MWIP contains provisions relating to the making of awards in the form of options and conditional awards of ordinary shares.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
(Continued)

a) Options
During the current year no options under the MWIP were granted, vested, exercised or lapsed. There are vested options outstanding over
560,877 shares. However, since vesting the Company’s share price has been lower than the option exercise price and accordingly these options
had not been exercised at 31 December 2012. They will lapse if they remain unexercised as at 12 June 2017. The directors’ holdings of options
over ordinary shares issued under the MWIP are as follows:
Outstanding at
1 January
Vesting
2012
date
number

Grant
date

Outstanding at
31 December
2012
number

Vested and
exercisable at
31 December
2012
number

Option
price

Charge to
income
statement in
2012

Charge to
income
statement in
2011

Neil McDougall

6.6.07

12.6.10

186,959

186,959

186,959

£1.19

£nil

£nil

Simon Humphrey

6.6.07

12.6.10

373,918

373,918

373,918

£1.19

£nil

£nil

b) Conditional share awards
During the current year 150,000 conditional shares were awarded to Simon Humphrey. 500,000 conditional shares lapsed and no conditional
shares vested. The directors’ participation in conditional share awards under the MWIP is as follows:

Award
date

Outstanding at
1 January
Vesting
2012
date
number

Lapsed during
Awarded
the year during the year
number
number

Outstanding at
31 December
2012
number

Share price
at award date

Charge to
income
statement in
2012

Charge to
income
statement in
2011

Neil McDougall

10.9.09

10.9.12

250,000

(250,000)

—

—

£0.725

£16,667

£25,000

Simon Humphrey

10.9.09

10.9.12

250,000

(250,000)

—

—

£0.725

£16,667

£25,000

Simon Humphrey

24.4.12

24.4.15

—

—

150,000

150,000

£0.55

£7,000

—

The extent to which awards will vest depends on the Group’s share price on the vesting date. The conditional shares awarded on 10 September
2009 did not meet the performance criterion and consequently lapsed. For the conditional shares awarded on 24 April 2012, if the share price is
£1.00 or more, on the vesting date, the award will vest in full and if the share price is £0.70 or below the award does not vest at all. If the share
price is between £0.70 and £1.00 the award partially vests, on the basis of 3.33% of the award for each £0.01 above a share price of £0.70.
The vesting is also subject to a non-market performance condition.
Management Share Incentive Scheme (‘MSIS’)
The MSIS is the equity incentive scheme which directors were invited to subscribe to between 1 December 2006 and 12 March 2007. No further
invitations to subscribe will be made under the MSIS. There has been no activity on the MSIS since the 2008 Annual Report and Accounts.
Directors’ interests are detailed in the Directors’ Report.
Share price
The Modern Water plc closing share price was 55p on 31 December 2012. The share price high for 2012 was 56.5p and the low was 32.5p.
On behalf of the Board
Michael Gradon
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
13 March 2013
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Directors’ Report
The directors present their Annual Report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012.
Principal activities
The Company is the holding company of a trading group the principal activities of which are to own, develop and supply technologies,
products and services related to provision of fresh water and treatment and disposal of waste water, specifically:
•	design, construction, testing, installation, commissioning and operation of desalination plants and water cooling systems,
•	water quality monitoring, environmental monitoring and soil testing
The Company is incorporated in England and Wales and has subsidiaries principally incorporated in England and Wales, as well as in the
USA and in Oman.
Review of the business and results
A detailed review of the business is set out in the Business Review on pages 4 to 10. This includes comments on the financial performance and
position of the Group. Information on the Group’s internal control environment, including the content of reporting to the Board, is included in the
Corporate Governance Statement on pages 14 to 15.
Key performance indicators
At the Group’s current stage of development, the directors consider that strategic and operational progress is best measured by achievement
against technical and business development milestones. Strategic and operational progress is detailed in the Chairman’s Statement and the
CEO’s Business Review.
The key financial information reported to the Board during the year included: revenue £3.8m (2011: £1.2m); loss before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation £4.7m (2011:£4.4m), operating loss £5.6m (2011: £4.9m); total comprehensive loss £5.4m (2011: £4.5m) and the cash balance
£5.7m (2011: £11.3m).
The Group Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year is set out on page 24. The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend
(2011: £nil).
Principal risks and uncertainties
The principal risks and uncertainties affecting the Group and the steps taken to manage these are:
Customer acceptance of the Group’s technologies
The Group’s success depends on customer acceptance of its products and processes. There are significant risks in predicting the size and timing
of material revenue. The target customers of the Group’s products and processes are often in developing countries which carry additional risks.
The Group seeks to address these risks by building a track record and proving technology capabilities to future customers and industry players.
The Group has increased investment in business development as product development progresses. The Group has formed a number of strategic
partnerships to create local presence in target countries, overcome pre-qualification criteria on contract tendering and establish routes to market.
The range of applications for the Group’s products provides mitigation against the risk of failure in a specific country or application. The Group
continues to invest in research and development (R&D) to mitigate the risk of the emergence of competitor technologies.
Socio-political risks
The Group operates, and is looking to secure further contracts and sales, in a number of countries around the world. This exposes the Group
to a range of social and political developments and consequentially to potential changes in the operating, regulatory and legal environment.
The Group operates and generates revenue in countries where political, economic and social transition is taking place. Some countries have
experienced, or may experience in the future, political instability, changes to the regulatory environment, changes in taxation, expropriation
or nationalisation of property, civil strife, strikes, acts of war and insurrections. Any of these conditions occurring could disrupt our operations
and revenue. The Group seeks to manage these risks through diversifying the regions in which it operates and through insurance.
Scaling up the technology
The Group’s membrane division and certain monitoring products are not yet well established commercially. They have been developed over
recent years and whilst proving the technology is largely complete there remain significant risks associated with commercialising technology and a
portfolio of new products. There are technology and procurement risks in scaling up the products through to large scale commercial deployment.
The Group seeks to mitigate these risks through the use of partners with proven manufacturing and fabrication capabilities, rather than
developing in-house capabilities, and through the development and operation of pilot plants prior to full commercial deployment.
Additionally there are risks related to developing the optimum contract, royalty and licensing models to derive value from the products.
The Group manages these risks through employment of executives and senior management with significant experience both in the water industry
and in the development and growth of early stage companies.
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IP protection
The Group’s ability to generate value from its products depends in part on the development and protection of its IP. The Group assigns significant
resources, both internally through the Company’s General Counsel and technical staff, and externally through patent attorneys, to enhance and
protect its patented and non-patented IP.
Recruitment and retention of key personnel
The Group’s directors and employees are highly qualified and experienced. Recruiting and retaining key staff is critical to the Group’s success.
Knowledge and experience of the Group’s products and customer base is retained by a relatively small number of individuals. The risk of staff loss
is mitigated through its HR policies, competitive remuneration (including the Modern Water plc Incentive Plan), performance appraisals and training.
Health and safety
There are inherent health and safety risks with the deployment of the core membrane and monitoring products. The mitigation of any health and
safety events involving the Group’s products is key to the strategy for growth. The Group mitigates its health and safety risks through its Group
Health and Safety Policy, which includes regular reporting to the Board and to the Management Team.
Financial risks
These risks and mitigating controls are described in note 3 to the Accounts.
Research and development
Expenditure recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for R&D during the year was £407,000 (2011: £473,000). Activity included
further R&D on the Group’s Forward Osmosis and monitoring technologies.
Future developments
Future developments and prospects are set out in the CEO’s Business Review.
Directors’ interests
The directors in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements, are listed below together with their beneficial
interests in the share capital of the Company.
% of issued
share capital

Number of
ordinary shares
of 0.25p

% of issued
share capital

Number of
ordinary shares
of 0.25p

31 December 2012

31 December 2012

13 March 2013

13 March 2013

10.53

6,265,000

7.96

6,325,000

Simon Humphrey

3.05

1,812,000

2.30

1,832,000

Michael Gradon

1.25

746,518

1.19

946,518

Neil McDougall

Mike Townend

0.97

575,000

0.76

605,000

Robert Clarke

0.59

350,000

0.63

500,000

All directors participated in the share placing on 4 March 2013. Shareholdings as at 13 March 2013 are detailed above.
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
The Group maintains liability insurance for its directors and officers. Following shareholder approval, the Group has also provided an indemnity
for its directors and the secretary, which is a qualifying third party indemnity provision for the purposes of the Companies Act 2006. This
provision was in place during the year and up to the date of the Annual Report and Accounts.
Corporate governance
The Annual Report includes a separate Corporate Governance Statement.
Supplier payment policy
It is the Group’s policy to abide by the terms of payment agreed with suppliers in respect of the goods and services invoiced to the Group.
Based on the calculation method defined in the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008,
at 31 December 2012 the Group had an average of 55 days (2011: 20 days) purchases outstanding in creditors (Company: 79 days, 2011: 6 days).
Financial instruments
The Group’s financial instruments primarily comprise cash and cash equivalents. In addition, various other financial instruments such as trade
receivables and trade payables arise directly from its operations. Please refer to note 3 to the Accounts for greater details of the Group’s risks
and policies regarding financial instruments.
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Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at the offices of Modern Water plc on 24 April 2013 at 10.00am. The notice convening the Annual
General Meeting is set out on pages 51 to 52 of the Annual Report and Accounts.
Independent auditors
The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution concerning their reappointment
will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.
Directors’ statement as to disclosure of information to auditors
The directors who were members of the Board at the time of approving the Directors’ Report are listed on page 12 and 13. Having made
enquiries of fellow directors, each of these directors confirms that:
•	to the best of each director’s knowledge and belief, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s auditors are unaware; and
•	each director has taken all the steps a director might reasonably be expected to have taken to be aware of relevant audit information and
to establish that the Group’s auditors are aware of that information.
By order of the Board
Tad Ostrowski
Company Secretary
13 March 2013
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

in respect of the annual report and the financial statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have prepared the
Group and Parent Company financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing these financial
statements, the directors are required to:
•	select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
•	make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
•	s tate whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements; and
•	prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in business.
The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s transactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
By order of the Board
Tad Ostrowski
Company Secretary
13 March 2013
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the members of Modern Water plc

We have audited the Group and Parent Company financial statements (the ‘financial statements’) of Modern Water plc for the year ended
31 December 2012 which comprise the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Group and Company Statements of Financial
Position, the Group and Company Statements of Changes in Equity, the Group and Company Statements of Cash Flows, and the related notes.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the Parent Company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions
of the Companies Act 2006.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 22, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply
with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16
of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose
or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Parent Company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report and Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with
the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications
for our report.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:
•	the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2012
and of the Group’s loss and the Group’s and Parent Company’s cash flows for the year then ended;
•	the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;
•	the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and
as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and
•	the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent
with the financial statements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
•	adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or
•	the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
•	certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
•	we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
Stephen Wootten (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Gatwick
13 March 2013
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Group Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2012

Note

2012
£000

2011
£000

Revenue

5

3,754

1,242

Cost of sales

5

(2,341)

(782)

Gross profit

5

1,413

Administrative expenses

8

(6,107)

Other gains/(losses) – net

7

Loss before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation and amortisation

22
(4,672)

8

Operating loss

460
(4,604)
(242)
(4,386)

(880)

(547)

(5,552)

(4,933)

12

142

Finance costs

12

(77)

—

Share of loss of joint venture

17

—

(28)

Finance income

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation
Taxation

(5,487)
13.1

Loss for the year

356

(4,605)

74
(5,413)

62
(4,543)

Other comprehensive income
4

Foreign currency translation differences on foreign operations
Total comprehensive loss for the year

—

(5,409)

(4,543)

(5,413)

(4,543)

Loss attributable to:
Owners of the parent

—

Non-controlling interests

—

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:

(5,413)

(4,543)

Owners of the parent

(5,409)

(4,543)

—

Non-controlling interests

—

(5,409)

(4,543)

Loss per share for the year (attributable to owners of the parent)
Basic loss per share

14.1

9.10p

7.64p

Diluted loss per share

14.2

9.10p

7.64p

Modern Water plc has taken advantage of the exemption provided under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to disclose the parent
company statement of comprehensive income.
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Group and Company Statements of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2012

Group
Note

2012
£000

Company
2011
£000

2012
£000

2011
£000

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

15

923

787

—

—

Intangible assets

16

17,289

17,593

—

—

Investments

17

—

—

15,825

15,694

18,212

18,380

15,825

15,694

Current assets
Inventories

18

1,077

1,149

—

—

Trade and other receivables

19

1,659

976

7,764

6,447

Cash and cash equivalents

20

5,751

11,280

5,139

10,580

8,487

13,405

12,903

17,027

26,699

31,785

28,728

32,721

149

149

149

149

Share premium account

30,532

30,532

30,532

30,532

Merger reserve

13,180

13,180

13,180

13,180

(18,660)

(13,422)

(15,256)

(11,180)

25,201

30,439

28,605

32,681

126

126

—

—

25,327

30,565

28,605

32,681

13.3

300

374

—

—

21

1,072

846

123

40
40

Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Ordinary shares

24

Accumulated losses
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

1,072

846

123

1,372

1,220

123

40

26,699

31,785

28,728

32,721

The financial statements on pages 24 to 50 were approved by the Board of directors on 13 March 2013 and signed on its behalf by:
Simon Humphrey
Chief Executive Officer
13 March 2013
Modern Water plc
Registered in England and Wales Number 05963927
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Group and Company Statements of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2012

Group

Note

Balance as at 1 January 2011

Ordinary
shares
£000

Share
premium
account
£000

147

30,532

(Accumulated
losses)/
Merger
Retained
reserve
earnings
£000
£000

12,782

(9,133)

Total
£000

Noncontrolling
interest
£000

Total
equity
£000

34,328

—

34,328

Comprehensive loss
Loss and total comprehensive loss for year

—

—

—

(4,543)

(4,543)

—

(4,543)

Total comprehensive loss

—

—

—

(4,543)

(4,543)

—

(4,543)

6.1

2

—

398

—

400

—

400

—

—

—

—

—

126

126

10

—

—

—

254

254

—

254

Transactions with owners
Issue of shares related to business
combination
Non-controlling interest arising on business
combination
Share-based payments
Total transactions with owners
Balance as at 1 January 2012

2

—

398

149

30,532

13,180

(13,422)

254

—

—

—

(5,413)

654

126

780

30,439

126

30,565

Comprehensive loss
Loss for the year
Foreign currency translation differences

—

—

—

Total comprehensive loss

—

—

—

4
(5,409)

(5,413)
4
(5,409)

—
—
—

(5413)
4
(5,409)

Transactions with owners
Share-based payments

10

—

—

—

171

171

—

171

—

—

—

171

171

—

171

149

30,532

13,180

147

30,532

12,782

Loss and total comprehensive loss for year

—

—

—

Total comprehensive loss

—

—

—

2

—

398

—

—

—

254

2

—

398

254

149

30,532

13,180

Loss and total comprehensive
loss for year

—

—

Total comprehensive loss

—

—

Total transactions with owners
Balance as at 31 December 2012

(18,660)

25,201

126

25,327

44,187

—

44,187

(12,160)

(12,160)

—

(12,160)

(12,160)

(12,160)

—

(12,160)

—

400

—

400

254

—

254

654

—

654

(11,180)

32,681

—

32,681

—

(4,247)

(4,247)

—

(4,247)

—

(4,247)

(4,247)

—

(4,247)

Company

Balance as at 1 January 2011

726

Comprehensive loss

Transactions with owners
Issue of shares
Share-based payments

10

Total transactions with owners
Balance as at 1 January 2012
Comprehensive loss

Transactions with owners
Share-based payments
Total transactions with owners
Balance as at 31 December 2012

10

—

—

—

171

171

—

171

—

—

—

171

171

—

171

149

30,532

13,180

28,605

—

28,605

(15,256)

The merger reserve resulted from the acquisitions of Surrey Aquatechnology Limited on 12 June 2007 and Cogent Environmental Limited
on 2 February 2011 and represents the fair value of equity-based consideration.
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Group and Company Statements of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2012

Group
Note

2012
£000

Company
2011
£000

2012
£000

2011
£000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash used in operations

25

Net cash flows used in operating activities

(4,903)

(4,991)

(5,615)

(8,558)

(4,903)

(4,991)

(5,615)

(8,558)

(585)

(143)

Cash flows from investing activities
—

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

15

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

15

14

23

—

—

Purchase of patents and development costs

16

(152)

(137)

—

—

—

(3,128)

—

(444)

384

176

384

176

(60)

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired

6

176

Interest received
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from investing activities

(547)

(3,001)

—

Cash flows from financing activities
Treasury shares

—

Cash-settled share-based payments

—

—

—

Net cash flows used in financing activities

—

—

—

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

—

—
—
—

(5,450)

(7,992)

(5,439)

(8,618)

20

11,280

19,252

10,580

19,194

20

5,751

(79)

Exchange (losses)/gains on bank balances
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

—

20
11,280

(2)
5,139

4
10,580
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1. General information
Modern Water plc is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales, whose shares are publicly traded on the
Alternative Investment Market (AIM), a market operated by the London Stock Exchange. The registered office and principal place of business
is Bramley House, The Guildway, Old Portsmouth Road, Guildford, Surrey GU3 1LR.
The consolidated and Company financial statements of Modern Water plc (the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries and joint venture (together
the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 December 2012 were authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 13 March 2013 and the statement
of financial position was signed by the Chief Executive Officer (Simon Humphrey).
The principal accounting policies adopted by the Group and Company are set out below.
2. Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the current and prior year, unless otherwise stated, in the preparation
of these financial statements.
2.1 Basis of preparation and changes in accounting policy and disclosures
The financial statements of Modern Water plc have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by the EU, IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting
under IFRS. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
2.1.1 Going concern
The directors are required by company law to be satisfied that the Group has adequate resources to continue in business for the foreseeable
future. A review has been conducted and the directors have concluded that such resources are available, and that the going concern basis
is justified in the preparation of the financial statements.
2.1.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group
There are no IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are effective for the first time for the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2012 that
would be expected to have a material impact on the Group.
(b) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective for the financial year beginning 1 January 2012 and not adopted early
•	A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2012,
and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. None of these is expected to have a significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the group, except the following set out below:
•	Amendment to IAS 1, ‘Financial statement presentation’ regarding other comprehensive income. The main change resulting from these
amendments is a requirement for entities to group items presented in ‘other comprehensive income’ (OCI) on the basis of whether they
are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). The amendments do not address which items are
presented in OCI.
•	IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value and a single
source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across IFRSs. The requirements, which are largely aligned between
IFRSs and US GAAP, do not extend the use of fair value accounting but provide guidance on how it should be applied where its use is already
required or permitted by other standards within IFRSs or US GAAP.
•	IAS 19, ‘Employee benefits’, was amended in June 2011. The impact on the group will be as follows: to immediately recognise all past service
costs; and to replace interest cost and expected return on plan assets with a net interest amount that is calculated by applying the discount rate
to the net defined benefit liability (asset). The group is yet to assess the full impact of the amendments.
•	IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. IFRS 9 was
issued in November 2009 and October 2010. It replaces the parts of IAS 39 that relate to the classification and measurement of financial
instruments. IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified into two measurement categories: those measured as at fair value and those
measured at amortised cost. The determination is made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. For financial liabilities, the standard retains
most of the IAS 39 requirements. The main change is that, in cases where the fair value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a
fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in other comprehensive income rather than the income statement, unless this
creates an accounting mismatch. The group is yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact and intends to adopt IFRS 9 no later than the accounting period
beginning on or after 1 January 2015. The group will also consider the impact of the remaining phases of IFRS 9 when completed by the Board.
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•	IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated financial statements’, builds on existing principles by identifying the concept of control as the determining factor
in whether an entity should be included within the consolidated financial statements of the parent company. The standard provides additional
guidance to assist in the determination of control where this is difficult to assess. The group is yet to assess IFRS 10’s full impact and intends
to adopt IFRS 10 no later than the accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
•	IFRS 12, ‘Disclosures of interests in other entities’, includes the disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including
joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and other off balance sheet vehicles. The group is yet to assess IFRS 12’s full impact
and intends to adopt IFRS 12 no later than the accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2014. There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC
interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact on the group.
2.1.3 Parent company financial statements
Modern Water plc has taken advantage of the exemption provided under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to disclose the parent
company statement of comprehensive income. The loss attributed to the parent company in the year was £4,247,000 (2011: £12,160,000).
2.2 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries).
(a) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying
a shareholding of more than half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, are considered when assessing whether the company controls an entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
The group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with
IAS 39 either in the income statement or as a change to other comprehensive income.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred in relation to the fair value of the net identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference
is recognised in the income statement.
Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Profits and losses resulting
from inter-company transactions that are recognised in assets are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
(b) Joint ventures
Joint ventures are entities over which the company exercises joint control with other parties under a formal arrangement.
Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. The cost of investment in joint ventures is measured
at the fair value of the assets given and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. The Company’s investment includes goodwill
identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)
The Group’s share of its joint ventures’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and its share of postacquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount
of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the joint venture.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of joint ventures are changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
(c) Transactions with non-controlling interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with the equity owners of the Group. For purchases from
non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of the net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity.
When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to fair value with the change
in carrying amount recognised in the income statement. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting
for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to the income statement.
2.3 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the Board that makes strategic decisions.
2.4 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling (£), which is the Group’s
presentation currency and the Company’s functional currency.
(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the income statement within
‘finance income or cost’.
(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
•	assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;
•	income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated
at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and
•	all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.
2.5 Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment is shown at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost includes expenditure that is attributable
to the acquisition of the items. Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of each asset to its residual
value over its estimated useful economic life, as follows:
Leasehold improvements
– remaining term of the lease
Plant and machinery
– three to five years
Motor vehicles
– three to five years
Office equipment
– three to five years
Furniture, fixtures and fittings – three to five years
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The assets’ residual values and useful economic lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.
Subsequent costs are capitalised only when it is probable that they will result in future economic benefits flowing to the Group and when they
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance expenditure is charged to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred.
2.6 Intangible assets
(a) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of the acquired
subsidiary/joint venture/associate at the date of acquisition:
•	goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in ‘intangible assets’; and
•	goodwill on acquisitions of joint ventures is included in ‘investments in joint ventures’ and is tested for impairment as part of the overall balance.
Separately recognised goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses
on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill related to the entity sold.
Goodwill is not subject to amortisation, but is tested for impairment annually to identify whether there have been events or a change in
circumstances to indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and the value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairments, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are identifiable cash flows in Cash Generating
Units (CGUs). The allocation is made to those CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which
the goodwill arose. Due to the pre-revenue stage of most of the Group’s technologies, value in use has been assessed based on the present value
of applying the Group’s technologies to potential contracts in the future and an assessment of the expected number of such contracts.
(b) Patents
Separately acquired patents are recognised at the historical cost. They have a finite useful economic life and are subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of patents over their estimated useful
economic lives of 20 years from patent filing.
Patented technology acquired as part of a business combination is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date and amortised over the useful
economic life of the technology, estimated as the remaining life of the patents.
(c) Research and development
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
Any internally-generated development costs are recognised as an asset only if all of the following are met:
•	an asset is created that can be identified;
•	it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits; and
•	the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
Where no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which
it is incurred. Internally generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over three years.
Development costs identified as a result of a business combination are accounted for in accordance with IAS 38, brought on to the consolidated
statement of financial position at the date of acquisition and amortised on a straight-line basis between 10 and 20 years.
2.7 Impairment of intangible assets, investments, property, plant and equipment
Purchased goodwill has an indefinite useful economic life, is not subject to amortisation and is tested annually for impairment as described
in notes 2.6 and 16.
Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are tested for impairment when events or a change in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and the value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairments, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are identifiable cash flows (CGUs). Due to the pre-revenue stage of most
of the Group’s technologies, value in use has been assessed based on the present value of applying the Group’s technologies to potential contracts
in the future and an assessment of the expected number of such contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.8 Investments
Investments are stated at cost less any provision for impairment. Investment assets are tested annually for impairment, see note 17.
2.9 Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments
made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
2.10 Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.
(a) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank comprises cash available on demand. Short-term deposits with a maturity from inception of one year or less placed with financial
institutions are classified as cash equivalents if they can be converted to cash at any time without significant penalties.
(b) Trade receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection
is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less provision for impairment.
(c) Trade payables
Trade payables are not interest bearing and are initially measured at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.
2.11 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The cost
of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and other direct costs but excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses. Provisions, if necessary, are made
for slow-moving, obsolete and defective stock.
2.12 Share Capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown in equity
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
2.13 Employee benefits
(a) Pension obligations
The Group has a defined contribution pension plan for directors and staff. The scheme is administered by an insurance company to which the
Group pays fixed contributions and the Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as an employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund
or a reduction in the future payments is available.
(b) Share-based payments
Share-based incentive arrangements are provided to directors and employees. The Group operates one share-based payment scheme,
the Modern Water plc Incentive Plan (MWIP) which is described in note 10.
The fair value of the services received in exchange for the share-based payment is recognised as an expense with a corresponding credit to
equity. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options and bonus shares
granted at the date of grant using either a Black-Scholes or Monte Carlo pricing model. The annual charge is modified to take account of options
granted to employees who leave the Group during the performance or vesting period and forfeit their rights to the share options and in the case
of non‑market related performance conditions, where it becomes unlikely they will vest.
The grant by the Company of share-based payments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital contribution.
The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period
as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity.
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2.14 Taxation
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws applicable to the current year and enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and joint venture operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation
and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination, which at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting nor the
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and joint venture, except where the timing
of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
2.15 Revenue and income recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods, services and royalty income in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of trade and early settlement discounts, value added tax (VAT) and similar sales taxes.
(a) Royalties
Royalty income is recognised as revenue on an accruals basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.
(b) Provision of goods and services
Revenue from the provision of goods and services is recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer.
The risks and rewards of ownership are deemed to have been transferred when the goods are delivered and the services provided to the
customer. Goods in transit are deemed to be owned by the customer if the customer arranges transit, or by the Group if the Group arranges
transit. Income from the reimbursement of expenses by the customer is recognised in other income.
(c) Interest
Income is recognised as interest accrues, using the effective interest method. Interest income is included in finance income in the statement
of comprehensive income.
(d) Grants
Grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the entity will comply with the conditions related to them and that the grants
will be received.
Grants related to income are recognised over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs which they are intended
to compensate, on a systematic basis. Grants relating to income are recognised as other income in the statement of comprehensive income.
Unutilised grants are held in accruals and deferred income in the Group Statement of Financial Position.
Grants relating to assets are deducted from the carrying value of the asset. The statement of comprehensive income is affected by a reduced
depreciation charge over the useful economic life of the asset.
3. Financial risk management
The Group is subject to a number of financial risks, principally market risk (interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk); credit risk; liquidity risk;
and capital risk. The Group’s policy aims to mitigate these risks though a conservative approach to treasury management:
(a) Market risk
(i) Interest risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from variable interest rates on finance income and investing cash flows from the cash deposits. The Group’s
policy is to invest in fixed interest term deposits, thereby mitigating uncertainty over the future interest receipts. As the Group has no borrowings
it only has limited interest rate risk.
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3. Financial risk management (Continued)
(ii) Foreign exchange risk
During 2012 the majority of the Group’s costs were in pounds sterling and US dollars therefore it was appropriate to hold funds in pounds
sterling and US dollars. The Group does have a major supplier who invoices in Australian dollars and for these payments the Group maintains
an Australian dollar bank account, purchasing Australian dollars when a commitment is certain or when there is a favourable exchange rate.
In addition to sterling and US dollar accounts, the Group does maintain Australian dollar and Euro accounts for customer receipts and to hold
currency to hedge against future commitments in those currencies.
(b) Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk from placing significant deposits with counterparties. The Group’s policy is to restrict counterparties
to Moody’s A rated and a maximum of £5m with non-rated building societies, in consultation with the Group’s financial advisers. Cash balances
by counterparty credit rating are listed in note 20. Additionally the Group is exposed to credit risk from customers. This risk is mitigated in the
Monitoring Division through new customers being required to pay in advance for their first purchase. Accounts receivable balances are monitored
and actively managed on a regular basis.
(c) Liquidity risk
The Group’s liquidity risk arises from cash being on deposit with counter-parties and therefore not available at short notice to meet requirements.
The Group’s policy is to maintain rolling cash flow forecasts and place cash on deposit with a range of maturity dates to meet forecast liquidity
requirements. Additionally all short-term deposits defined as cash and cash equivalents are redeemable in advance of the maturity date if required.
(d) Capital risk
Capital risk relates to the long term funding requirements for the Group. The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. At the Group’s current stage of development it is appropriate for it to be wholly funded
by equity. As the Group develops, this capital structure will be reviewed.
4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the
related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities are addressed below:
(a) Estimated impairment of goodwill
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 2.6.
The recoverable amounts of cash generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use
of estimates. No impairment charge was considered necessary for 2012. Value in use calculations exceed the £13.4m carrying value of the
goodwill. There is sufficient headroom between the recoverable amount and the carrying value to allow for movement in the key assumptions
before impairment is required. Detail of the impairment tests and the key assumptions is included in note 16.
(b) Acquired intangible assets
The Group is carrying significant intangible assets (patented technology and research and development) arising from business combinations
in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 2.6. Estimation of the fair values of acquired intangible assets requires assumptions
as to replacement cost, value, future useful economic life and future cash flows for impairment tests. There is a high degree of judgement required
in making these assumptions which impact both the initial fair value acquired and the carrying value as at the balance sheet date. Note 6 details
the intangible assets acquired as part of business combinations during 2011.
(c) Share-based payments
The fair value calculation of share-based payments requires several assumptions and estimates. Their details are included in note 10.
Such assumptions and estimates could change and could affect the amount recorded.
5. Segmental analysis
5.1 Reportable segments
The chief operating decision-maker is deemed to be the Board, for whom monthly financial information is provided by division to gross profit and
below this in consolidated group format. For management reporting purposes the group is organised into two operating segments (i) membranes;
and (ii) monitoring, which matches this divisional split.
At the Group’s current stage of development the majority of the costs (business development, technical, legal, marketing, finance, facilities
and directors’ expenditure) are managed and reported centrally. As the commercial activities of the Group develop, this financial information
is expected to evolve.
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2012
Statement of Comprehensive Income

Membrane
£000

35

2011

Monitoring
£000

Central
£000

Total
£000

Membrane
£000

Monitoring
£000

Central
£000

Total
£000

378

3,376

—

3,754

48

1,194

—

1,242

Cost of sales

(562)

(1,779)

—

(2,341)

(45)

(737)

—

(782)

Gross (loss)/profit

(184)

1,597

—

1,413

3

457

—

460

Revenue

Administrative expenses (including
depreciation and amortisation)

—

—

Other gains/(losses) – net

—

—

Operating loss

(184)

Finance income

—

1,597

(6,987)

(6,987)

22

22

(5,552)

(6,965)

—

142

142

—

—

(5,151)

(5,151)

—

—

(242)

(242)

3

457

(5,393)

(4,933)

—

—

356

356

Finance costs

—

—

(77)

(77)

—

—

—

—

Share of joint venture loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

(28)

(28)

3

457

(5,065)

(4,605)

(Loss)/profit before taxation
Taxation
(Loss)/profit for the year

(184)
—
(184)

1,597
—
1,597

(5,487)

(6,900)

74

74

(5,413)

(6,826)

—

—

3

457

62
(5,003)

62
(4,543)

The Monitoring division recognised £135,000 (2011: £37,000) revenue from royalties and £3,241,000 (2011: £1,157,000) from sale of goods and services.
The Membrane division recognised £334,000 (2011: £46,000) from the sale of desalination equipment and £44,000 (2011: £2,000) from sale of water.
5.2 Geographical information
The Group’s operates in four main geographical regions, based on customer location.
2012
Revenue

Americas
Europe

2011

Monitoring
£000

Membranes
£000

Total
£000

Monitoring
£000

Membranes
£000

Total
£000

1,390

—

1,390

632

—

632

239

—

239

236

—

236

60

378

438

30

48

78

Asia Pacific

1,294

—

1,294

689

—

689

Total

3,376

378

3,754

1,194

48

1,242

Middle East and Africa

The Group has non-current assets in four countries, based on location of the assets

UK

2012

2011

Property,
plant and
equipment
£000

Intangible
assets
including
goodwill
£000

Total
£000

Property,
plant and
equipment
£000

Intangible
assets
including
goodwill
£000

Total
£000

259

17,289

17,548

224

17,593

17,817

US

413

—

413

54

—

54

Oman

139

—

139

313

—

313

Gibraltar

112

—

112

196

—

196

Total

923

17,289

18,212

787

17,593

18,380

5.3 Major customers
Within the Monitoring division revenue sales to one customer totalled £664,000 (2011 £338,000), representing 20% (2011: 28%) of the
division’s revenue. No other customer represented more than 10% of the division’s revenue. All revenue in the Membrane division revenue
came from a single customer (2011: 100%).
Assets and liabilities are presented to the chief operating decision maker in a consolidated group format. Assets and liabilities are
not presented by segment.
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6. Business Combinations
The Company made no investments during the current year. During the prior year company made the following investments.
6.1 Investment in Cogent Environmental Limited
On 2 February 2011 Modern Water plc purchased the entire share capital of Cogent Environmental Limited (Cogent), for consideration
of £419,110 and 642,571 newly issued 0.25p Modern Water plc shares, ranking pari passu in all respects with existing shares. The new shares
represented £400,000 at the average mid-market closing price on the five previous business days, and represent 1.1% of the existing issued
share capital of the Company.
On 3 February 2011 as part of an internal group restructuring, MW Monitoring Limited (MWM) acquired from Modern Water plc the entire
share capital of Cogent for the sum of £819,110. MWM is a company 100% owned by Modern Water plc established to hold all the Group’s
monitoring businesses. MWM has funded this acquisition through an intercompany loan from Modern Water plc.
Cogent is a global provider of trace metal monitoring products. Its online and portable products, OVA and PDV, are used for monitoring trace
metals in over 20 countries. Key market sectors include natural resources and energy, heavy industry and manufacturing, public and private
utilities, and environmental regulation.
The acquisition of Cogent, along with the Group’s existing investment in Cymtox and subsequent investment in Microtox , represent key steps
in the establishment of the water monitoring division, MW Monitoring Limited, within the Group.
At the acquisition date the fair value of the net assets and liabilities in Cogent equalled £156,306, consequently goodwill on the acquisition
was £662,804. The goodwill is attributable to the acquired customer base, staff expertise and benefits resulting from combining the
Cymtox and Cogent businesses. Transaction costs expensed on the acquisition were £1,500. Cogent Environmental Limited was renamed
to Modern Water Monitoring Limited during 2012.
6.2 Investment in Aguacure Ltd
At 31 December 2009, Modern Water plc owned 45% of AguaCure Ltd (AguaCure), which it accounted for as a joint venture.
On 5 February 2010, Modern Water plc invested £100,000 for 20 newly issued AguaCure shares. This increased the Group’s shareholding
to 54% . AguaCure was deemed to remain under joint control of Modern Water plc and Aguahold Limited and therefore continued to be
accounted for as a joint venture by Modern Water plc.
On 29 July 2011 Modern Water plc acquired Aguahold Limited’s shareholding in AguaCure Ltd for a consideration of £25,000. This increased
Modern Water’s shareholding in AguaCure Ltd to 100% . The Group accounted for the investment in Aguacure under the equity accounting
method until 29 July 2011 and has subsequently fully consolidated the results of Aguacure to the year ended 31 December 2011.
The fair value of the identified net liabilities equalled £164,000. The fair value of the net liabilities of the Company’s existing 54% shareholding
consequently equalled £89,000. Consideration paid was £25,000, therefore the goodwill on acquisition was £100,000.
The charge to the income statement on re-measuring the Group’s existing interest in AguaCure was £276,000, being the impairment of the
Group’s existing 54% share of Aguacure’s intangible assets, which were written down at 29 July 2011.
6.3 Investment in Water Quality Division of Strategic Diagnostics Inc. (SDIX)
On 9 December 2011 the Modern Water Group purchased, through two wholly owned subsidiaries, Modern Water Inc, (MWI) and MW
Monitoring IP Limited (MWMIP), the assets of SDIX’s water quality division (“Microtox”), including its Microtox® toxicity testing technology,
for £2,900,399 (US$4,500,000 plus a further $50,089 paid in February 2012 following a closing stock count). MWI acquired the inventory,
equipment, customer and supplier contract and employees of Microtox, whilst MWMIP acquired Microtox’s intellectual property (IP).
Microtox, based in Newark, Delaware, sells products and services to determine toxicity and detect contaminants in water and soil. Its two main
product groups are toxicity detection using bioluminescence, and industrial bio-detection of substances including pesticides, herbicides and PCBs.
Microtox is a leading worldwide brand in water toxicity monitoring, and the acquisition will further enhance Modern Water’s offering in this
key marketplace. Modern Water expects to benefit from synergies as both Cymtox and Microtox use the same platform bioluminescent
technology, and the combined expertise in this field provides a strong base for future product development.
There are also geographical benefits to the acquisition as Microtox sales are expected to capitalise on the distribution channels Cogent
and Cymtox have established in China and Asia. Moreover, sales of Modern Water’s existing products should be enhanced by the strength
of the sales team and distribution partners in the US and Canada.
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At the acquisition date the fair value of the net assets and liabilities in MWI and MWMIP equalled the consideration paid, consequently
goodwill on the acquisition was US$nil (£nil). Transaction costs expensed on the acquisition were £109,000.
6.4 Investment in Modern Water Technologies LLC
During 2011 Modern Water plc established Modern Water Technologies LLC (MWT) as an operating company in Oman. Modern Water plc,
through Modern Water Holdings Limited, holds 70% of the share capital of MWT, with the remaining 30% held by the Group’s Oman partner
Oman Mechanical Services Company Ltd (OMSC). The Group input 70% (£295,000) of the required 251,000 Omani Rials (£421,000)
as MWT’s share capital, with the remaining 30% (£126,000) being contributed by OMSC.
7. Other gains/losses – net
2012
£000

—

Loss on re-measuring existing interest in AguaCure on acquisition

2011
£000

(276)

Grant income

22

34

Total

22

(242)

The grant income relates to work performed by AguaCure on European Union (EU) funded electro-coagulation projects.
8. Administrative expenses by nature

Employee benefits expense
Share-based payments
Operating lease payments

Note

2012
£000

2011
£000

9

2,666

1,859

10

171

254

23.1

348

257

407

473

Research and development
Auditors’ remuneration

11

Other administrative expenses
Total administrative expenses before depreciation and amortisation charges
Depreciation and amortisation charges
Total administrative expenses including depreciation and amortisation charges

15,16

120

91

2,395

1,670

6,107

4,604

880

547

6,987

5,151
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9. Employee benefits expense
2012
Note

2011

Group
£000

Company
£000

Group
£000

Company
£000

Staff costs for the year, including executive directors, amounted to:
2,180

482

1,524

425

Social security costs

235

58

188

60

Pension costs

122

39

103

38

Wages and salaries

Other benefits
Total employee benefits expense

129

13

44

11

2,666

592

1,859

534

171

40

254

50

2,837

632

2,113

584

Group
Number FTE

Company
Number FTE

Group
Number FTE

Company
Number FTE

2

2

2

2

Technical

28

—

17

—

Business development

15

—

8

—

7

—

6

—

52

2

33

2

Equity-settled share-based payments

10

Other benefits include private health insurance, life insurance and income protection.
2012

2011

Monthly average number of employees by activity (including executive directors):
Executive directors

Finance, legal and administration
Total
Key management personnel are considered to be the executive directors.

The aggregate amount of emoluments, excluding employers pension contributions, paid to executive directors in respect of qualifying services was
£440,000 (2011: £386,000). The highest paid director received £278,000 (2011: £257,000), excluding pension contributions. There were no gains
made by directors on the exercise of share options (2011: £nil). No money was received by directors under long term incentive schemes (2011:
£nil). The two executive directors received £40,000 in cash bonuses relating to 2012 performance (2011: £nil). The highest paid director received a
£20,000 cash bonus relating to 2012 performance (2011: £nil). The Group paid £39,000 (2011: £38,000) to the two executive directors in respect
of money purchase pension schemes, with the highest paid director receiving £25,000 (2011: £25,000). Total remuneration for non-executive
directors was £55,000 (2011: £55,000). See the remuneration table on page 17 of Directors’ Remuneration Report for further details.
In addition to the above costs for permanent staff, the Group utilises the services of contract and agency staff as circumstances require.
10. Share-based payment plans
2012
Group
£000

2011
Company
£000

Group
£000

Company
£000

—

1

—

16

Conditional share awards

170

40

238

50

Equity-settled share-based payments

171

40

254

50

—

131

—

204

171

171

254

254

Options

Capital contribution relating to share-based payments
Total share-based payments changes in equity

The share-based payment plans are described below. The number of shares issued under these plans is limited to 10% of the issued ordinary
share capital of the company.
The Company incurred £171,000 (2011: £254,000) in share-based payments of which £40,000 (2011: £50,000) were recognised in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income for its employees and a further £131,000 (2011: £204,000) to the employees of subsidiary undertakings. The payment
to the employees of the Company’s subsidiaries is recognised as a capital contribution (note 17).
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Modern Water plc Incentive Plan (MWIP)
The MWIP was adopted on 1 June 2007 and contains provisions relating to the making of awards in the form of options and conditional awards
of ordinary shares (to be received once performance conditions are satisfied).
(a) Options
Under this scheme share options are granted to senior management. The exercise price is equal to the market price on the date of the grant.
The options may be exercised if certain TSR performance criteria are met. If the performance criteria are not met the options lapse.
During the year options over 50,000 shares lapsed due to TSR performance criteria not being achieved. No options were granted, exercised
or forfeited in the year.
The directors’ and employees’ holdings of options over ordinary shares issued under MWIP were as follows:
Number of options

Date of grant

Earliest
exercise date

Expiry
date

Neil McDougall*
12.06.07
12.06.10
12.06.17
Simon Humphrey*
12.06.07
12.06.10
12.06.17
Employees
21.04.09**
21.04.12
21.04.19
2012 Total Options
2012 Weighted Average Exercise Price
2011 Total Options
2011 Weighted Average Exercise Price

Outstanding at
Exercise
1 January
price
2012

Granted
in year

Exercised
in year

Vested and
Outstanding at exercisable at
Lapsed 31 December 31 December
in year
2012
2012

119.0p

186,959

—

—

—

186,959

186,959

119.0p

373,918

—

—

—

373,918

373,918

35.0p

50,000
610,877
112p
1,010,877
107p

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
560,877
119p
610,877
112p

—
560,877
119p
560,877
119p

(50,000)
(50,000)
100p
(400,000)
100p

TSR performance criteria required on the earliest exercise date. If this is not met the options lapse.
* The options vest in thirds 12, 24 and 36 months from AIM admission. Each tranche vests subject to total shareholder return being at least equal to 10% for the 12 months preceding
the relevant tranche vesting date.
** Options will vest subject to total shareholder return being at least equal to 200% for the three years between grant and vesting.

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding at 31 December 2012 is four years and five months
(2011: five years and seven months). The exercise price for options outstanding at the end of the year was £1.19p (2011: £0.35p to £1.19p).
560,877 options were exercisable as at 31 December 2012 (2011: 560,877).
The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. No options have been granted in the current or prior year.
(b) Conditional share awards
The conditional share awards are provisional awards of ordinary shares in Modern Water plc, which vest three years after the date of the award
to the extent that performance conditions have been met. The extent to which the award will vest depends on the Group’s share price on the
vesting date. The movement in the number of conditional shares awarded is set out below:
At 1 January
Conditionally awarded during year
Lapsed
Forfeited
At 31 December

2012

2011

2,150,000
***1,050,000

*1,750,000
**750,000

(900,000)
(50,000)
2,250,000

—
(350,000)
2,150,000

Vesting criteria required on vesting date three years after grant date are set out below:
* 1,750,000 shares conditionally awarded prior to 1 January 2011 will vest in full if the share price is £1.40 or more on the vesting date. If the share price is £1.00 or below the award does
not vest at all. If the share price is between £1.00 and £1.40 the award partially vests, on the basis of 2.5% of the award for each £0.01 above a share price of £1.00.
** 750,000 shares conditionally awarded during 2011 will vest in full if the share price is £1.00 or more on the vesting date. If the share price is £0.80 the award does not vest at all. If the
share price is between £0.80 and £1.00 the award partially vests, on the basis of 5% of the award for each £0.01 above a share price of £0.80.
*** 1,050,000 shares conditionally awarded during 2012 will vest in full if the share price is £1.00 or more on the vesting date. If the share price is £0.70 the award does not vest at all.
If the share price is between £0.70 and £1.00 the award partially vests, on the basis of 3.33% of the award for each £0.01 above a share price of £0.70.
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10. Share-based payment plans (Continued)
900,000 shares conditionally awarded in 2009 lapsed due to the vesting criteria not being met. The weighted average remaining contractual life
for the conditional share awards outstanding at 31 December 2012 is one year and seven months (2011: one year and five months). The fair value
of the award is estimated as at the date of award using a Monte Carlo model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the shares
were awarded.
The following table lists the inputs into the model used for the shares awarded in the year and the prior year.
***24 April
2012

**13 December
2011

*20 April
2011

53.5p
£nil
39%
3.0
0%
2.0%
21p

50.03p
£nil
46%
3.0
0%
2.0%
20p

50.5p
£nil
43%
3.0
0%
2.0%
20p

2012
£000

2011
£000

Audit of Company
Audit of subsidiaries
Total audit

30
40
70

25
29
54

Tax compliance services
Tax advisory services
Services relating to taxation
Total non audit services

43
7
50
50

29
8
37
37

120

91

2012
£000

2011
£000

142
—
142

336
20
356

(77)
(77)
65

—
—
356

Grant date

Share price at date of award
Exercise price
Assumed volatility at date of award (median of historical 50 day moving average)
Vesting period (years)
Expected dividend yield
Risk-free discount rate
Fair value per share awarded
11. Auditors’ remuneration

Total fees
12. Finance income and costs

Finance income:
Bank interest receivable
Foreign exchange gains
Total finance income
Finance costs:
Foreign exchange losses
Total finance costs
Net finance income
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13. Taxation
13.1 Tax on loss on ordinary activities
2012
£000

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

2011
£000

Impact of change in the UK tax rate

(47)
(27)

(34)
(28)

Total deferred tax

(74)

(62)

13.2 Reconciliation of the total tax charge
The tax on the Group’s loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate applicable
to losses of the consolidated entities as follows:
2012
£000

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation
Loss multiplied by the weighted average tax rate of 24.5% (2011: 26.5%)
Joint venture’s results reported net of tax
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Capital allowances and other timing differences
Adjustment in respect of prior years
Re-measurement of deferred tax – changes in UK tax rate
Losses not utilised
Tax credit

5,487
1,344
—
(45)
(91)
—
27
(1,161)
74

2011
£000

4,605
1,220
(7)
(172)
(101)
(5)
28
(901)
62

13.3 Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible assets in business combinations

2012
£000

2011
£000

At 1 January
Credited to the statement of comprehensive income

374
(74)

350
(62)

Acquisition of subsidiary
At 31 December

—

86

300

374

The deferred tax liability arises from taxable temporary differences on intangible assets recognised on business combinations and is expected
to unwind over the useful economic life of these assets.
The analysis of deferred tax liabilities is as follows:
2012
£000

2011
£000

To be recovered after more than 12 months
To be recovered within 12 months

245
55

326
48

Deferred tax liabilities

300

374

Deferred tax assets of £4,161,000 at 31 December 2012 (31 December 2011: £3,338,000) in respect of unutilised trading losses have not been
recognised, as utilisation is not yet sufficiently certain. No deferred tax assets relating to short term timing differences or depreciation in excess
of capital allowances have been recognised, due to uncertainty over the timing of the recovery of these assets.
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14. Loss per share
14.1 Basic
Basic loss per share (LPS) is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
2012
£000

Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company (£’000)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)
Basic loss per share

2011
£000

5,413

4,543

59,505

59,452

9.10p

7.64p

Furniture,
fixtures
and fittings
£000

Total
£000

14.2 Diluted
As the Group is loss making, the diluted loss per share is equal to the basic loss per share.
15. Property, plant and equipment

Group

At 1 January 2011
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount
Year ended 31 December 2011
Opening net book amount
Exchange differences
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation charge
Closing net book amount
At 31 December 2011
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount
Year ended 31 December 2012
Opening net book amount
Exchange differences
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation charge
Closing net book amount
At 31 December 2012
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Leasehold
improvements
£000

Plant and
machinery
£000

Motor
vehicles
£000

Office
equipment
£000

127
(80)
47

1,078
(293)
785

25
(3)
22

192
(151)
41

119
(72)
47

1,541
(599)
942

47
—
—
6
—
(27)
26

785
1
90
34
(24)
(278)
608

22
—
—
22
—
(11)
33

41
—
3
72
—
(30)
86

47
—
3
9
—
(25)
34

942
1
96
143
(24)
(371)
787

133
(107)
26

1,179
(571)
608

47
(14)
33

267
(181)
86

131
(97)
34

1,757
(970)
787

26
(5)
265
(3)
(31)
252

608
(3)
138
—
(310)
433

33
—
13
(10)
(11)
25

86
(3)
99
—
(42)
140

34
—
70
(1)
(30)
73

787
(11)
585
(14)
(424)
923

390
(138)
252

1,314
(881)
433

46
(21)
25

363
(223)
140

200
(127)
73

2,313
(1,390)
923

There were no property, plant and equipment assets recognised in the Company’s Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2012
(2011: none).
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16. Intangible assets

Group

Goodwill
£000

Patent and
Trademark
costs
£000

Research and
Development,
and patented
Customer
technology
contracts
acquired as part acquired as part
Development
of a business
of a business
costs
combination
combination
£000
£000
£000

Total
£000

At 1 January 2011
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net book amount

12,671
—

499

131

1,690

—

(103)

(128)

(394)

—

14,991

3

1,296

—

14,366

(625)

12,671

396

12,671

396

3

1,296

—

14,366

763

6

—

2,317

180

3,266

—

137

—

—

—

137

Year ended 31 December 2011
Opening net book amount
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Additions
Amortisation charge
Closing net book amount

(43)

(3)

13,434

—

496

—

3,499

(114)

164

(16)

17,593

(176)

13,434

642

131

4,007

180

18,394

At 31 December 2011
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net book amount

(146)

(131)

(508)

(16)

13,434

—

496

—

3,499

164

17,593

(801)

13,434

496

—

3,499

164

17,593

—

152

—

—

—

152

(331)

(79)

Year ended 31 December 2012
Opening net book amount
Additions
Amortisation charge
Closing net book amount

(46)

—

13,434

—

602

—

3,168

85

17,289

(456)

13,434

794

131

4,007

180

18,546

(192)

(131)

602

—

At 31 December 2012
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net book amount

—
13,434

(839)
3,168

(95)

(1,257)

85

17,289

Additions to patent costs arise from legal and other fees incurred in securing patents. These are valued at the actual costs related to prosecuting
the patents.
Patented technology acquired as part of a business combination in 2011 relates wholly to the acquisition of the Water Quality Division of SDIX Inc,
see note 6.3 for details. The patented technology has been valued at the present value of future royalty payments.
Additions in 2011 for research and development and customer contracts acquired as part of a business combination relate to the acquisition
of Cogent Environmental Ltd, see note 6.1 for details. The remaining research and development assets acquired as part of a business combination
relate to the acquisitions of Surrey Aquatechnology Ltd and Poseidon Water Ltd. The research and development assets have been valued
on a replacement cost basis.
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16. Intangible assets (Continued)
The goodwill carrying value by CGU is summarised below:
2012
£000

2011
£000

Surrey Aquatechnology Limited
Poseidon Water Limited
Cymtox Limited
Modern Water Monitoring Limited (previously Cogent Environmental Limited)
AguaCure Ltd

11,902
140
629
663
100

11,902
140
629
663
100

Total Group goodwill

13,434

13,434

Group

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The goodwill impairment review indicated that the recoverable amounts are in excess of the carrying value. The forecasts indicate sufficient headroom
between the recoverable amount and carrying value to allow for movement in the key assumptions before impairment is required. Therefore there was
no goodwill impairment recorded in the year.
The recoverable amounts are determined using value in use (VIU) calculations. The use of this method requires the estimation of future cash flows
before tax and the selection of a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of these cash flows. The cash flow calculations analyse the
present value of applying Modern Water’s patented Forward Osmosis, wastewater and water monitoring technology to potential contracts in the future.
Modern Water is in the early commercial development stage, with the exception of the established businesses of Modern Water Inc and Modern Water
Monitoring Limited, in developing markets. The Group is currently working to secure and increase revenue generating contracts in both the Membrane
and Monitoring divisions. Forecast sales and profit are dependent on the size of the markets, penetration and speed of uptake. The early stage
of adoption means that there remains a significant level of judgement involved in making assumptions for sales.
The key assumption for the Surrey Aquatechnology Limited (SAL) value in use calculation is the securing of future commercial contracts. The key to
securing these contracts is the delivery of opex and capex savings for Forward Osmosis plants compared with traditional desalination technology.
Management estimate these savings based on results from the existing operational plants. The value in use calculation uses a 25 year timeframe consistent
with the industry standard for Build Own Operate Transfer (BOOT) contracts. A discount rate of 15%(2011: 15%) has been used when calculating the
net present value of these calculations.
SAL has significant headroom between the carrying value of SAL goodwill and the cash flow generated from winning a number of contracts. In order for
a material impairment to arise, revenues would have to be 27% below forecast.
The key assumption for both the Cymtox Limited and Modern Water Monitoring Limited value in use calculations are the sales volumes. Management
estimate the sales volume based on the current business plan, which was approved by the Board. The business plan was based on historical sales and
forecasts from customers. Discount rates of 15% (2011: 15%) and 15% (2011: 10%) respectively have been applied.
The key assumption for both Poseidon Water Limited and Aguacure Ltd value in use calculations is the securing of wastewater contracts over the next
five years. Management estimate the sales volume based on the current business plan, which was approved by the Board. The business plan was based
forecasts from potential customers. A discount rate of 20% (2011: 15%) and 20% (2011: 20%) respectively has been applied.
The discount rates applied to each CGU for the value in use projections are between 15% and 20% as outlined above (2011: 10% to 20%).
All assumptions have been reviewed at the end of the year and revised where necessary.
There were no intangible assets recognised in the Company’s Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2012 (2011: none).
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17. Investments

Group

Investment in
joint venture
£000

Total
£000

215

215

25

25

Year ended 31 December 2011
Opening book amount
Additions
Share of loss

(28)

(28)

(212)

(212)

—

—

Opening book amount

—

—

Additions

—

—

Share of loss

—

—

Closing net book amount

—

—

Investment in
subsidiary
£000

Investment in
joint venture
£000

Total
£000

15,490

500

15,990

204

—

204
25

Transfer to subsidiary
Closing net book amount
Year ended 31 December 2012

Company

Year ended 31 December 2011
Opening book amount
Capital contribution relating to share-based payments
Additions
Reclassification
Impairment charge
Closing book amount

—

25

525

(525)

—

(525)

—

(525)

15,694

—

15,694

15,694

—

15,694

131

—

131

—

—

15,825

—

Year ended 31 December 2012
Opening book amount
Capital contribution relating to share-based payments
Additions
Closing book amount

—
15,825
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17. Investments (Continued)
Subsidiary undertakings,
which contribute to the group result

% Shareholding

Status

Technical, business development, finance, legal and admin services to
the Group companies

100

Subsidiary

Surrey Aquatechnology Limited

Desalination technology

100

Subsidiary

Modern Water Holdings Limited

Holding company for water treatment operating companies and
investments

100

Subsidiary

Modern Water Technologies LLC

Project and operating company in Oman

70

Subsidiary

MW Monitoring Limited

Holding company for monitoring instrumentation business

100

Subsidiary

Modern Water Inc

Toxicity monitoring and bio-detection products

100

Subsidiary

MW Monitoring IP Limited

Owners of IP for toxicity monitoring and bio-detection products

100

Subsidiary

Modern Water Monitoring Limited

Water and soil monitoring products

100

Subsidiary

Cymtox Limited

Toxicity monitoring applications

100

Subsidiary

AguaCure Ltd

Electro-coagulation wastewater treatment systems

100

Subsidiary

Poseidon Water Limited

Saline wastewater treatment systems

51

Subsidiary

Modern Water (Nominees) Limited

Acquisition and allocation of shares for the Group

100

Subsidiary

Modern Water Services Limited

Principal activities

Modern Water Inc is a Delaware corporation. Modern Water Technologies LLC is a company registered in Oman. All other subsidiaries and joint
ventures are incorporated in England and Wales. Shares held are all ordinary share capital.
Cogent Environmental Limited was renamed to Modern Water Monitoring Limited during 2012.
18. Inventories
Group
2012
£000

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods
Total inventories

Company
2011
£000

2012
£000

2011
£000

255

180

—

—

14

203

—

—

808

766

—

—

1,077

1,149

—

—

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in ‘cost of sales’ amounted to £2,341,000 (2011: £782,000).
19. Trade and other receivables
Group
2012
£000

Company
2011
£000

2012
£000

2011
£000

Trade receivables
Provision

1,079
—

514
(28)

—
—

—
—

Trade receivables – net

1,079

486

—

—

Value added tax
Accrued income
Other receivables
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings
Amounts due from non-controlling interests
Prepayments
Total trade and other receivables

96
31
26
—
126
301
1,659

105
65
8
—
—
312
976

10
31
—
7,714
—
9
7,764

24
65
—
6,341
—
17
6,447

Accrued income includes interest due on term deposits. The amounts due from subsidiary and joint venture undertakings are unsecured,
bear no interest and are repayable on demand.
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As at 31 December Group trade receivables of £710,000 (2011: £184,000) were past due, of which £nil was impaired (2011: £28,000).
The aged receivables relate to a number of customers for whom there is no history of default. The ageing of these receivables is as follows:
Group

Up to 3 months past due date
3 to 6 months past due date
Trade receivables past due date
Trade receivables not yet due
Total trade receivables

2012
£000

2011
£000

369
341
710
369
1,079

156
28
184
792
976

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:
Group

UK pound sterling
US dollar
Omani Rial
Australian dollar
Euro

2012
£000

2011
£000

66
632
341
15
25
1,079

57
337
—
60
60
514

Movements on the Group’s provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:
Group
2012
£000

28
—
(28)
—
—

At 1 January
Provision for receivables impairment
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible
Unused amounts reversed

2011
£000

—
28
—
—
28

The Company had no trade and other receivables past due but not impaired (2011: £nil).
The directors believe that the carrying value of the Company’s receivables from subsidiary undertakings is supported by their expected
future cash flows.
20. Cash
20.1 Cash and cash equivalents
Group
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank
Short-term deposits
Cash at bank and in hand

Company

2012
£000

2011
£000

2012
£000

2011
£000

3,751
2,000
5,751

2,655
8,625
11,280

3,139
2,000
5,139

1,955
8,625
10,580

2012
£000

2011
£000

2012
£000

2011
£000

946
2,021
2,784
5,751

796
5,326
5,158
11,280

355
2,000
2,784
5,139

137
5,318
5,125
10,580

20.2 Credit quality of cash and cash equivalents
Group
Short term

Long term

P-1
AA
P-1
A
P-2
A
Cash at bank and in hand

The credit quality of the cash and cash equivalents is assessed using Moody’s short and long term ratings.

Company
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21. Trade and other payables
Group

Company

Current

2012
£000

2011
£000

2012
£000

2011
£000

Trade payables

365

165

40

4
20

Social security
Accruals and deferred income
Total trade and other payables

59

57

20

648

624

63

16

1,072

846

123

40

22. Financial instruments by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below. The fair value of the assets and liabilities is equal
to their carrying value.
2012 Loans
and receivables
£000

2011 Loans
and receivables
£000

Trade and other receivables*

1,262

559

Cash and cash equivalents

5,751

11,280

Total

7,013

11,839

Financial liabilities
amortised at cost
£000

Financial liabilities
amortised at cost
£000

Group

Assets as per statement of financial position

Liabilities as per statement of financial position
Trade and other payables**

1,013

789

Total

1,013

789

2012 Loans
and receivables
£000

2011 Loans
and receivables
£000

7,745

6,406

Company

Assets as per statement of financial position
Trade and other receivables*

5,139

10,580

12,884

16,986

Financial liabilities
amortised at cost
£000

Financial liabilities
amortised at cost
£000

Trade and other payables**

103

20

Total

103

20

Cash and cash equivalents
Total

Liabilities as per statement of financial position

* excludes prepayments and VAT
** includes accruals, but excludes any VAT and social security

Included in the cash and cash equivalents of the Group and Company at 31 December 2012 was the equivalent of £380,000 (2011: £143,000)
denominated in US dollars, £85,000 (2011: £110,000) denominated in euros and £170,000 in Omani Rials (2011: £433,000). The balance was
denominated in pounds sterling (£).
See note 19 for denomination of trade receivables by currency.
Neither the Group nor the Company currently have a requirement for bank facilities.
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23. Commitments and contingencies
23.1 Group operating leases
Future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December 2012 are as follows:
Group

Not later than one year
After one year but not more than five years
Later than five years
Group operating leases

2012
£000

2011
£000

332

234

1,046

639

—

97

1,378

970

The Group’s operating leases relate to property and office equipment, and have remaining terms up to five years. The amount recognised
as an expense in the year is £348,000 (2011: £257,000).
The Company does not have any operating lease commitments (2011: none).
23.2 Contractual commitments
The Group consolidates some of its purchases and as such has a contractual commitment with one supplier to place orders for goods and
services to the value of AUS$2m per annum from 2013 to 2015 and a second supplier for goods to the value of US$79,000 in 2013.
23.3 Contingent liabilities
Neither the Group nor the Company had any contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date (2011: £nil).
24. Share capital and premium
Allotted and
fully paid
ordinary shares
£000

Share
premium
£000

Total
£000

Company

Authorised
Allotted and
Authorised
ordinary shares
fully paid ordinary shares
of 0.25p each ordinary shares
£000

At 1 January 2011

100,000,000

58,862,685

250

147

30,532

30,679

—

642,571

—

2

—

2

Shares issued for acquisition of Cogent
At 31 December 2011

100,000,000

59,505,256

250

149

30,532

30,681

At 31 December 2012

100,000,000

59,505,256

250

149

30,532

30,681

On 2 February 2011 Modern Water plc issued 642,571 new 0.25p Modern Water plc shares, ranking pari passu in all respects with existing
shares, as part consideration for 100% of the share capital of Cogent Environmental Limited.
The Group, through Modern Water (Nominees) Limited (MWNL), held no shares at 31 December 2012 (2011: nil).
On 12 February 2013, the Company announced the conditional placing of 20,000,000 new shares of 0.25p each. The shares were admitted
to trading in two tranches, on 1 March 2013 and 4 March 2013.
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25. Net cash flows used in operating activities
Group
Note

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Impairment of investment
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipments
Net finance (income)/cost
Loss on joint venture
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain on operating activities
Loss on revaluation of investment
Equity-settled share-based payments
Movements in working capital
(excluding the effects of exchange differences on consolidation):
Decrease/(increase) in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Cash used in operations

2012
£000

(5,487)

Company
2011
£000

(4,605)

2011
£000

2012
£000

(4,247)

(12,160)

15
16

424
456

371
176

—
—

—
—

17

7
10

—
—
(65)
—
—
—
171

—
1
(356)
28
(1)
276
254

—
—
(140)
—
—
—
40

525
—
(340)
—
—
—
50

18
19

42
(735)

(353)
(240)

—
(1,351)

—
3,443

21

291
(4,903)

(542)
(4,991)

83
(5,615)

(76)
(8,558)

26. Related party transactions
IP Group plc held 20.86% of the ordinary share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2012 and appoints a non-executive director, and
it is therefore deemed a related party. A service agreement dated 1 December 2006 was made between the Company and IP Group plc,
whereby IP Group plc provides strategic, business development and administrative services to the Company. Fees for the year were £30,000
(2011: £30,000) and as at 31 December 2012 £7,500 (2011: £7,500) was outstanding under this agreement.
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation in the Group accounts,
but require disclosure in the Company accounts.
An agreement dated 30 November 2006 was made between the Company and Surrey Aquatechnology Limited for the provision of administrative
services for fees of £6,000 per annum. At 31 December 2012, fees of £6,000 (2011: £6,000) were outstanding under this agreement.
An agreement dated 14 December 2006 was made between the Company and Cymtox Limited for the provision of administrative services
for fees of £14,463 per annum. At 31 December 2012, fees of £14,000 (2011: £14,000) were outstanding under this agreement.
An agreement dated 14 December 2006 was made between the Company and Poseidon Water Limited for the provision of administrative
services for fees of £50,760 per annum. At 31 December 2012, fees of £55,000 (2011: £55,000) were outstanding under this agreement.
Additionally the Company had receivable balances at 31 December 2012 with its subsidiary companies to fund working capital and acquisition
of investments as follows:
• Modern Water Services Limited – £14,638,000 (2011: £11,139,000). This has been fully provided against as at 31 December 2012;
• Surrey Aquatechnology Limited – £1,081,000 (2011: £990,000);
• MW Monitoring Limited – £4,370,000 (2011: £3,819,000);
• Modern Water Monitoring Limited – £1,647,000 (2011: £798,000);
• Cymtox Limited – £251,000 (2011: £138,000);
• Aguacure Ltd – £187,000 (2011: £143,000);
• Poseidon Water Limited – £92,000 (2011: £88,000);
• Modern Water Holdings Limited – £7,000 (2011: £290,000).
Compensation paid to key management is detailed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.
27. Events after the reporting period
On 12 February 2013, the Company announced the conditional placing of 20,000,000 new shares of 0.25p each raise £10m (before expenses).
This placing was approved at a General Meeting of its shareholders on 28 February 2013 and the shares were admitted to trading in two tranches,
on 1 March 2013 and 4 March 2013. The net cash of £9.5m was received on 4 March 2013.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
Modern Water plc
(Incorporated and registered in England and Wales with registered number 5963927)

THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. IF YOU ARE IN ANY DOUBT AS TO ANY ASPECT
OF THE CONTENTS OF THIS DOCUMENT OR THE ACTION YOU SHOULD TAKE YOU ARE RECOMMENDED TO CONSULT
AN INDEPENDENT ADVISER AUTHORISED UNDER THE FINANCIAL SERVICES AND MARKETS ACT 2000.
Notice of Annual General Meeting
Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Modern Water plc will be held at the offices of the Company, Bramley House,
The Guildway, Old Portsmouth Road, Guildford, Surrey GU3 1LR, on Wednesday 24 April 2013 at 10.00am to consider and, if thought fit, to pass
the following resolutions, of which resolutions 1 to 5 will be proposed as ordinary resolutions, and resolutions 6 and 7 will be proposed as special
resolutions.
Ordinary resolutions
1. To receive and adopt the directors’ report, the accounts and the Auditors’ report for the financial year ended 31 December 2012.
2. To approve the directors’ remuneration report for the year ended 31 December 2012.
3. To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors of the Company to hold office from the conclusion of this meeting until the conclusion
of the next general meeting of the Company at which accounts are laid before the shareholders, and to authorise the directors to fix their
remuneration.
4. To re-elect as directors of the Company Mr Michael Gradon and Mr Mike Townend, who retire by rotation.
5. THAT the directors be generally and unconditionally authorised in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (“the Act”)
to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot equity securities (as defined in section 560 of the Act):
(a)	up to an aggregate nominal amount of £66,254 (being one third of the nominal value of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 13 March 2013); and in addition
(b)	up to a further aggregate nominal amount of £66,254 (being one third of the nominal value of the issued share capital of the Company as
at 13 March 2013) in connection with a rights issue in favour of holders of shares in proportion, as nearly as is practicable, to their existing
holding, and holders of other equity securities (to the extent that this is required by the rights of those securities or is permitted by those
rights and considered necessary by the directors), subject only to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors may deem
necessary or expedient to deal with fractional entitlements, treasury shares, record dates, shares represented by depositary receipts,
legal or practical difficulties arising under the laws of any territory or the requirements of any relevant regulatory body or any stock
exchange, or any other matter.
This authority shall operate in substitution for and to the exclusion of all previous authorities given to the directors pursuant to section 551 of the
Act, and shall expire on the conclusion of the Company’s 2014 Annual General Meeting (or if earlier 23 July 2014), except that the Company
may before such expiry make any offer or agreement which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after such expiry and,
notwithstanding such expiry, the directors may allot relevant securities pursuant to any such offer or agreement.
Special resolutions
6.	THAT subject to the passing of resolution 5 the directors be empowered in accordance with section 570 of the Companies Act 2006
(“the Act”) to allot equity securities (as defined in section 560 of the Act), payment for which is to be wholly in cash, pursuant to the authority
conferred by resolution 5 as if section 561 of the Act did not apply to any such allotment provided that this power shall be limited to:
(a)	the allotment of equity securities in connection with a rights issue, or any other pre-emptive offer, in favour of holders of shares in
proportion, as nearly as is practicable, to their existing holding, and holders of other equity securities (to the extent that this is required
by the rights of those securities or is permitted by those rights and considered necessary by the directors), subject only to such exclusions
or other arrangements as the directors may deem necessary or expedient to deal with fractional entitlements, treasury shares, record
dates, shares represented by depositary receipts, legal or practical difficulties arising under the laws of any territory or the requirements
of any relevant regulatory body or any stock exchange, or any other matter;
(b)	the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph a. above) of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal value of £39,752.63
(being 20% of the nominal value of the issued share capital of the Company as at 13 March 2013).
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This power shall operate in substitution for and to the exclusion of any previous power given to the directors pursuant to section 570 or 571
of the Act and shall expire at the same time as the authority in resolution 5, except that the Company may before such expiry make any offer
or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and, notwithstanding such expiry, the directors
may allot equity securities pursuant to any such offer or agreement.
7. THAT a general meeting of the Company other than an Annual General Meeting may be called on not less than 14 clear days’ notice.
By order of the Board
Tad Ostrowski
Company Secretary
Modern Water plc
13 March 2013
Incorporated and registered in England and Wales with registered number 5963927

Registered office
Bramley House
The Guildway
Old Portsmouth Road
Guildford
Surrey GU3 1LR

Notes
1.	Members are entitled to appoint a proxy to exercise all or any of their rights to attend and to speak and vote on their behalf at the meeting.
A shareholder may appoint more than one proxy in relation to the Annual General Meeting provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the
rights attached to a different share or shares held by that shareholder. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. A proxy form to make
such appointment and give proxy instructions accompanies this notice. If you do not have a proxy form and believe that you should have one,
or if you require additional forms, please contact the Company’s registrars, Capita Registrars on 0871 664 0300 (calls cost 10p per minute plus
network extras) or, if telephoning from overseas, on +44 208 639 3399. Lines are open 8.30am – 5.30pm Monday to Friday.
2.	To be valid any proxy form or other instrument appointing a proxy must be received by post or (during normal business hours only) by hand not
less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting.
3.	The return of a completed proxy form, other such instrument or any CREST Proxy Instruction (as described in paragraph 8 below) will not prevent
a shareholder attending the Annual General Meeting and voting in person if he/she wishes to do so.
4.	Any person to whom this notice is sent who is a person nominated under section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 to enjoy information rights
(a “nominated person”) may, under an agreement between him/her and the shareholder by whom he/she was nominated, have a right to be
appointed (or to have someone else appointed) as a proxy for the Annual General Meeting. If a nominated person has no such proxy appointment
right or does not wish to exercise it, he/she may, under any such agreement, have a right to give instructions to the shareholder as to the exercise
of voting rights.
5.	The statement of the rights of shareholders in relation to the appointment of proxies in paragraph 1 above does not apply to nominated persons.
The rights described in that paragraph can only be exercised by shareholders of the Company.
6.	To be entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (and for the purpose of the determination by the Company of the votes they
may cast), shareholders must be registered in the register of members of the Company at 10.00am on 22 April 2013 or, if the meeting is adjourned,
48 hours prior to the time fixed for the adjourned meeting. Changes to the register of members after that time shall be disregarded in determining
the right of any person to attend and vote at the meeting.
7.	CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so by using the
procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST Personal Members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who
have appointed a service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate
action on their behalf.
8.	In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a “CREST Proxy
Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with CRESTCo’s specifications, and must contain the information required for such
instruction, as described in the CREST Manual. The message, regardless of whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or is an amendment
to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the issuer’s agent
(ID RA10). For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST
Application Host) from which the issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this
time any change of instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means.
9.	CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors, or voting service providers should note that CRESTCo does not make available
special procedures in CREST for any particular message. Normal system timings and limitations will, therefore, apply in relation to the input of
CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member,
or sponsored member, or has appointed a voting service provider, to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such
action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST
members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting system providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual
concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.
10.	The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securities
Regulations 2001.
11.	As at 13 March 2013 (being the day on which the board approved this notice) the Company’s issued share capital consisted of 79,505,256
ordinary shares, carrying one vote each. Therefore the total voting rights in the Company as at that time were 79,505,256.
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Form of Proxy Modern Water plc
Company Number: 5963927

Please read carefully the notice of meeting and explanatory notes set out below before completing this form.
Please complete this form in BLOCK CAPITALS.
I/We (name). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
of (address). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
......................................................................................................................................
being a member(s) of the above named Company hereby appoint the Chairman of the meeting or (see notes 1, 5 and 7)
(name). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
of (address). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at the offices of the Company,
Bramley House, The Guildway, Old Portsmouth Road, Guildford GU3 1LR at 10.00am on 24 April 2013 and at any adjournment thereof.
I/we direct my/our proxy to vote as indicated by an “X” in the appropriate column (note 2).
Ordinary resolutions

1.

To receive and adopt the directors’ report, the audited statement of accounts and Auditors’ report
of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2012

2.

To receive and approve the directors’ remuneration report for the year ended 31 December 2012

3.

To reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the
directors of the Company to fix their remuneration

4.

To re-elect Michael Gradon and Mike Townend as directors of the Company, who are retiring by
rotation and offering themselves for re-election

5.

To authorise the directors to allot equity securities up to a nominal amount of £66,254, and in
addition, by way of fully pre-emptive rights issue, up to a nominal amount of £66,254

Special resolutions

6.

To authorise the directors to allot equity securities for cash, disapplying the statutory pre-emption
rights, up to a nominal amount of £39,752.63 (being 20% of the issued capital)

7.

To call a general meeting (other than AGM) on not less than 14 days’ notice

For

Against

Withheld

For

Against

Withheld

Signature(s) and/or common seal (notes 3 and 4). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
......................................................................................................................................
Date. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2013
Notes
1.	A proxy need not be a member of the Company. Completion and return of this form of proxy does not preclude a member from subsequently attending and voting at the meeting. If you wish to
appoint a proxy other than the Chairman of the meeting, please cross out the words “the Chairman of the meeting or” and write the full name and address of your proxy in the space provided.
The change should be initialled.
2.	If you do not indicate how you wish your proxy to vote on any resolution or on any other matter (including any amendment to any resolution), the proxy will exercise his/her discretion as to how
he/she votes and as to whether or not he/she abstains from voting in such manner as he/she thinks fit.
3.	This form must be signed and dated by the shareholder or his/her attorney duly authorised in writing. In the case of a corporation this form of proxy must be executed under its common seal
or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised in writing.
4.	A form of proxy, to be valid, must be signed and dated and must be lodged, together with the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed, or a duly certified copy of
such power or authority, with the Company’s registrars at: Capita Registrars PXS, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting.
5.	In the case of joint holders, the signature of any one of them will suffice but the names of all joint holders should be stated. The vote of the senior who tenders a vote (whether in person or by
proxy) will be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other holders. For this purpose, seniority is determined by the order in which the names stand in the register of members in respect
of the joint holding.
6.	Any alteration to this form must be initialled.
7.	Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, the time by which a person must be entered on the register of members in order to have the right to attend and vote
at the Annual General Meeting is 10.00am on 22 April 2013 or, if the meeting is adjourned, 48 hours prior to the time fixed for the adjourned meeting. Changes to the register of members after
that time shall be disregarded in determining the right of any person to attend and vote at the meeting.

54

Modern Water plc Annual Report and Accounts 2012

Registered office
Bramley House
The Guildway
Old Portsmouth Road
Guildford
Surrey GU3 1LR
Company number
Registered in England and Wales number 5963927
Further details can be found on the Modern Water
website: www.modernwater.com
Nominated adviser and broker
Numis Securities Ltd
10 Paternoster Square
London EC4M 7LT
Independent auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
First Point, Buckingham Gate
Gatwick
West Sussex RH6 0PP
Solicitors
Norton Rose LLP
3 More London Riverside
London SE1 2AQ
Registrars
Capita IRG Plc
The Registry
34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham BR3 4TU
Principal bankers
HSBC Bank plc
HSBC House
Mitchell Way
Southampton
Hampshire SO18 2XU

The paper used in this report is Oxygen paper. Oxygen is made using 100%
recycled pulp, a large percentage of which is de-inked. It is manufactured at a mill
with ISO 9001 and using 14001 accreditation and is FSC® (Forest Stewardship
Council) certified. The product has been printed using vegetable inks.
Printed in the UK by Pureprint Group using their alcofree® and pureprint®
printing technology.
Designed and produced by SampsonMay
www.sampsonmay.com

Modern Water plc
Bramley House
The Guildway
Old Portsmouth Road
Guildford
Surrey GU3 1LR
United Kingdom
Tel:
Fax:
Email:
Web:

+44 (0)1483 696 000
+44 (0)1483 506 687
info@modernwater.co.uk
www.modernwater.com

Registered number: 5963927

